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Revolution Beauty Group plc

("Revolution Beauty", the "Group", or the "Company")

AUDITED FINAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2024

Return to profitability and good progress with Reigniting the Revolution strategy

Revolu�on Beauty (AI M: R EVB), the mul�-channel  mass  beauty innovator, today announces  i ts  Ful l  Year Results  for the year
ended 29 February 2024 ("FY 2024" or the "Period").

2024
£ million

2023
£ million

 
Change

Revenue 191.3 187.8 +2%
Gross  profi t 88.4 75.9 +16%
Gross margin 46.2% 40.4% +5.8ppts
Operating costs1 75.8 83.4 -9%

Adjusted measures2   

Adjusted EBITDA 12.6 (7.5) +£20.1m
% of revenue 6.7% (4.0%) +10.7ppts
Adjusted EBIT 7.4 (23.4) +£30.8m
% of revenue 3.9% (12.5%) +16.4ppts
Adjusted profi t before tax 4.3 (26.7) +£31.0m
Statutory measures   
Profi t before tax 11.4 (33.9) +£45.3m
Di luted earnings/(loss) per share 3.2p (10.9p) +14.1p
Cash and cash equivalents 8.6 11.0 -£2.4m
Net debt excluding lease l iabi l i ties (23.1) (20.7) -£2.4m
Notes:
(1)  Operating costs is defined as Distribution & Administrative costs excluding depreciation, amortisation, exceptional items & share based compensation
(2)  Adjusted measures, which are not statutory measures, show the underlying performance of the Group excluding large, non-cash and exceptional items.

Financial highlights

·    Sales  up 2% year on year to £191.3m, including the impact of s igni ficant product clearance activi ty in the fi rst hal f
o  Strong performance in Rest of World more than offset weakness  in US and e-commerce.

·    Gross  margin of 46.2% (FY23: 40.4%) up 5.8 percentage points  with a  focus  on inventory management and profi tabi l i ty.
·   Adjusted EB I TDA of £12.6m - adjusted EB I TDA margin of 6.7% (F Y23: nega�ve 4.0%) as  a  result of the improved gross

margin, control led reductions  in marketing spend and reductions  in distribution costs .
·  O pera�ng costs  as  a  percentage of sales  decreased to 39.6% from 44.4%; £10m, three-year cost saving programme

underway.
·    Profi t before tax of £11.4m (FY23: loss  of £33.9m).
·    Net debt contained at £23.1m despite exceptional  cash costs  of £4.7m.

Operational highlights

·  Clear strategy in place to "Reignite the Revolu�on" by focuss ing on the Revolu�on Masterbrand and powering core
product categories , to become a global  top 5 player in the mass  beauty market.

·    Expansion of retai l  distribution across  key geographies .
·    New Product Development ("NPD") strategy launched, with greater focus  on efficiency.
·    Gross  inventory reduced by 32%. I nventories  (net of provis ion) reduced to £40.7m and stock turn increased by 47% to

2.2 (from 1.5 a  year ago).
·    Improved service levels  during the second hal f of the year for a l l  retai lers .
·    Socia l  media fol lowers  increased from 5.9m to 6.4m.
·    Strengthened board of directors  and management team.

Summary and outlook

The Group's  strategy to focus  on the Masterbrand and core product categories  was  unvei led at the capital  markets  event in
February 2024. This  strategy is  a l ready showing good progress  in improving profitabi l i ty and working capital  efficiency.
This  wi l l  enable greater investment in New Product Development and marketing to return the bus iness  to growth.

I n F Y25, we expect revenues to decl ine year-on-year in the first hal f at a  s l ightly higher rate than in the second hal f of F Y24,
reflec�ng our more focused product porKol io and the impact of stock clearance in the first hal f of F Y24. W ith a
reinvigorated innova�on pipel ine and opportuni�es  to expand our offering and distribu�on network, we expect a  return to
revenue growth in the second hal f of the year. BenefiMng from the Group's  ongoing cost savings  programme, Adjusted
EBITDA for FY25 is  expected to be at least in-l ine with FY24 with a  s igni ficant weighting to the second hal f.

Lauren Brindley, CEO commented:

"F Y24 was a  year of great strategic and financial  progress  fol lowing two chal lenging years . I  am extremely proud of what
Team Revolu�on has  achieved. O ur new Reigni�ng the Revolu�on strategy is  a l ready del ivering improvements  across  the
business , s trengthening our core and providing a  much fi rmer platform from which to grow.

As  we progress  through the new financial  year, I  am excited about the poten�al  of our reinvigorated pipel ine of innova�on
and the number of opportuni�es  to expand our retai l  distribu�on global ly.  As  the strategy con�nues to take effect, we
expect to see a return to growth in the second hal f of the year. That wi l l  put us  firmly on the right trajectory to achieving our
ambition of being a  top 5 player in the mass  beauty market."

TH I S ANNO UNC EM ENT CO NTAI NS I NS I D E I NFO R M ATI O N FO R TH E P UR P O S ES O F TH E M AR K ET ABUS E R EGULATI O N (EU) NO.
596/2014 AS IT FORMS PART OF UK LAW BY VIRTUE OF THE EUROPEAN UNION (WITHDRAWAL) ACT 2018, AS AMENDED.

 
The company wi l l  hold a  video webcast for analysts  and investors  at 9am (UK  �me) today.  The webcast i s  avai lable via  the



The company wi l l  hold a  video webcast for analysts  and investors  at 9am (UK  �me) today.  The webcast i s  avai lable via  the
fol lowing l ink:
 
https://www.investis -l ive.com/revolution-beauty/66680b14e119530d002bb711/bdffv
 
A replay wi l l  subsequently be avai lable on the Revolution Beauty investor relations  webpage.
 
For further information, please contact:
Investor Relations
Lauren Brindley, CEO
Nei l  Catto, CFO
Investor.Relations@revolutionbeautyplc.com
 
Joint Corporate Brokers
Liberum (NOMAD): Edward Thomas / Dru Danford / John More
Tel : +44 (0) 203 100 2222
 
Zeus: Nick Cowles  / Jamie Peel  / Jordan Warburton
Tel : +44 (0) 161 831 1512
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
As Chairman of Revolu�on Beauty Group plc, i t i s  my privi lege to present to you our annual  report for the fiscal  year 2024.
I t has  been a year marked by s ignificant achievements , chal lenges, and opportuni�es, and I  am pleased to report that
Revolution Beauty Group has  demonstrated i ts  res i l ience and commitment to excel lence.

I n the face of a  rapidly changing landscape, Revolu�on Beauty Group has  con�nued to adapt and innovate, remaining at
the forefront of the beauty industry. We are del ighted to report a  return to profit against a  backdrop of wel l  documented
chal lenges, as  we now look to the future.

LIFTING OF SHARE SUSPENSION

Fol lowing publ ica�on of the F Y22 and H1 23 results , the Company's  shares  were restored to trading on the Alterna�ve
I nvestment Market (AI M) on 28 June 2023. As  wel l  as  the publ ica�on of the results , the group took steps  to improve
controls  around the financial  and governance issues  that led to the repor�ng delays  and the ini�al  suspension. Having
subsequently i ssued the H1 24 financial  results  and this  Annual  Report and Accounts , in l ine with the repor�ng deadl ines , I
am pleased to say that we have returned to a  typical  reporting cycle.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE, BOARD AND MANAGEMENT CHANGES

The Group has  adopted the Q uoted Companies  Al l iance Corporate Governance Code 2023 (Q C A Code), and the Board
remains  committed to upholding the highest levels  of corporate governance.

Fol lowing the publ ica�on of the F Y22 Annual  Report and Accounts , boohoo Group plc, a  s ignificant shareholder in the
Group, requested board representa�on. Fol lowing discuss ion between the previous  board and boohoo, a  seSlement
agreement was reached and announced on 18 July 2023. The agreement included the fol lowing board changes:

•  Bob Hol t re s i gne d a s  CEO, l e a vi ng the  boa rd on 31 Augus t 2023.

•  De re k Zi s s ma n re s i gne d from the  boa rd on 18 Jul y 2023 a nd I  be ca me  e xe cuti ve  Cha i r whi l s t a  s e a rch for a  ne w CEO wa s
unde rta ke n.

•  Ra che l  Ma gui re  a nd Ma tthe w Ea tough who ha d be e n a ppoi nte d unde r the  l e a de rs hi p of Bob Hol t, re s i gne d from the
Boa rd fol l owi ng hi s  de pa rture .

•  Je re my Schwa rtz a l s o re s i gne d from the  Boa rd fol l owi ng Bob Hol t's  de pa rture .

•  Thre e  furthe r NEDs  we re  a ppoi nte d (Pe te r Ha l l e S, Ne i l  Ca So a nd Ra che l  Hors e fie l d) to re fle ct the  cha nge  i n
l e a de rs hi p, bri ngi ng wi th the m e xpe ri e nce  cl os e l y a l i gne d to the  di re cti on of the  ne w l e a de rs hi p te a m.

I woul d l i ke  to ta ke  thi s  opportuni ty to tha nk e ve ryone  who s e rve d a s  me mbe rs  of the  Boa rd for the  s e rvi ce , both duri ng the
ye a r a nd pre vi ous l y. FY24 s a w s i gni fica nt cha l l e nge s  for the  gove rna nce  of the  Group a nd the  pe rforma nce  of the  boa rd
throughout i s  a  cre di t to i ts  me mbe rs .

Fol l owi ng a n e xte ns i ve  s e a rch unde rta ke n by the  nomi na �on commi Se e , the  Group a nnounce d on 31 Augus t tha t La ure n
Bri ndl e y woul d joi n a s  our ne w CEO from 18 Se pte mbe r a nd tha t I  woul d be come  non-e xe cu�ve  Cha i r. La ure n ha s  now be e n
wi th us  for ni ne  months  i n whi ch �me  s he  ha s  brought a  fre s h pe rs pe c�ve  a nd s tra te gi c vi s i on tha t ha s  e ne rgi ze d our
compa ny's  di re c�on. He r l e a de rs hi p ha s  be e n i ns trume nta l  i n dri vi ng i nnova �on, fos te ri ng col l a bora �on, a nd e nha nci ng
s ha re hol de r va l ue .

At the  s a me  �me , i t wa s  a nnounce d tha t Chri s  Fry a nd Col i n He nry we re  a ppoi nte d a s  i nde pe nde nt non-e xe cu�ve  di re ctors .
Chri s  a nd Col i n we re  i de n�fie d fol l owi ng a  s e a rch l e d by the  Nomi na �on Commi Se e . The y ha ve  be come  cha i rs  of the
re mune ra ti on a nd a udi t commi tte e s  re s pe cti ve l y a nd I  ha ve  e njoye d worki ng wi th the m both ve ry much.

On 13 De ce mbe r 2023 i t wa s  a nnounce d tha t El i za be th La ke  ha d de ci de d to re s i gn from the  Boa rd. El i za be th he l d the  rol e  of
CFO through a  cha l l e ngi ng pe ri od a nd I  a m gra te ful  to he r for he r s e rvi ce .

Fol l owi ng El i za be th's  re s i gna �on, Ne i l  Ca So wa s  a ppoi nte d a s  CFO. Ha vi ng a l re a dy s e rve d a s  a  non-e xe cu�ve  di re ctor a nd
wi th e xte ns i ve  re l e va nt e xpe ri e nce , Ne i l  wa s  we l l  pl a ce d to ta ke  ove r. I  ha ve  e njoye d worki ng wi th Ne i l  s i nce  hi s
a ppoi ntme nt a s  CFO, hi s  e xce l l e nt work to da te  a nd pa rtne rs hi p wi th La ure n provi de s  the  Group wi th s trong fina nci a l
l e a de rs hi p for the  ne xt cha pte r on i ts  journe y.

On 13 De ce mbe r 2023 i t wa s  a l s o a nnounce d tha t Eri n Brooke s  woul d joi n the  boa rd. Eri n joi ns  wi th s e ctor e xpe ri e nce  i n he r
rol e  a s  Ma na gi ng Di re ctor a t Al va re z a nd Ma rs a l  a nd I we l come  he r to the  boa rd a nd l ook forwa rd to worki ng wi th he r
furthe r.

The  Boa rd cha nge s  ove r the  pa s t two ye a rs  ha ve  ca us e d uphe a va l  i n the  l e a de rs hi p of the  bus i ne s s  a nd s ome  unce rta i nty
through thi s  pe ri od. I  a m de l i ghte d tha t we  now ha ve  a  s e Sl e d boa rd wi th the  ri ght e xe cu�ve  l e a de rs hi p a nd a  s trong non-
e xe cuti ve  Group to s upport a nd cha l l e nge  the m i n the  de l i ve ry of our s tra te gy.

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS

The  outcome  of the  i nve s �ga �on tha t wa s  unde rta ke n ove r the  pa s t 24 months  a nd the  cos ts  a s s oci a te d re s ul te d i n cl a i ms
be i ng ma de  a ga i ns t our founde rs .

On 2 Fe brua ry 2024, the  Group a nd Ada m Mi nto, the  forme r CEO a nd founde r of the  Group, e nte re d i nto a  s e Sl e me nt
a gre e me nt re l a �ng to the  e ve nts  tha t l e d to the  de l a y of the  a udi t of Re vol u�on Be a uty's  FY22 re s ul ts  a nd the  s us pe ns i on
of tra di ng of the  Group's  s ha re s  duri ng Mr. Mi nto's  �me  a s  CEO, wi th no a dmi s s i on or a cce pta nce  of l i a bi l i ty by e i the r pa rty.

https://www.investis-live.com/revolution-beauty/66680b14e119530d002bb711/bdffv
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of tra di ng of the  Group's  s ha re s  duri ng Mr. Mi nto's  �me  a s  CEO, wi th no a dmi s s i on or a cce pta nce  of l i a bi l i ty by e i the r pa rty.
Furthe r de ta i l s  a re  s e t out i n note  5 to the  Fi na nci a l  Sta te me nts .

Unde r the  Se ttl e me nt a gre e me nt, a  ful l  a nd fi na l  s e ttl e me nt of ce rta i n cl a i ms  be twe e n the m ha s  be e n re a che d.

In conne cti on wi th thi s  s e ttl e me nt, Mr. Mi nto wi l l  pa y Re vol uti on Be a uty a  s e ttl e me nt s um of £2.9m.

On 5 Fe brua ry 2024 the  Group a nnounce d tha t i t ha d come  to a n a gre e me nt wi th Tom Al l s worth, the  forme r Exe cu�ve
Cha i rma n a nd co-founde r of the  Group, re ga rdi ng:

(i )     the  s e ttl e me nt of ce rta i n cl a i ms  be twe e n Re vol uti on Be a uty a nd Mr. Al l s worth,

(i i )    the  ti mi ng of future  pa yme nts  re l a ti ng to the  pri or a cqui s i ti on of Me di che m Ma nufa cturi ng Li mi te d (now

ca l l e d Re vol uti on Be a uty La bs  Ltd) a nd

(i i i )   Mr. Al l s worth's  future  rol e  wi thi n Re vol uti on Be a uty La bs  Li mi te d.

The  a gre e me nt ma de  ful l  a nd fi na l  s e ttl e me nt of ce rta i n cl a i ms  be twe e n the  Group a nd Mr. Al l s worth, wi th no a dmi s s i on or
a cce pta nce  of l i a bi l i ty by e i the r pa rty.

Unde r the  a gre e me nt, the  Group a gre e d to pa y Mr. Al l s worth a n e x-gra �a  pa yme nt of £270,000 i n re s pe ct of ce rta i n hi s tori ca l
l e ga l  fe e s  i ncurre d by Mr. Al l s worth.

A de e d of va ri a �on re ga rdi ng the  re ma i ni ng de fe rre d cons i de ra �on i n re s pe ct of the  purcha s e  of Me di che m by the  Group
wa s  a l s o e nte re d i nto. Purs ua nt to whi ch the  tota l  re ma i ni ng cons i de ra �on unde r the  Me di che m SPA of £19.0m wi l l  now be
re pa i d i n i ns ta l me nts  on a  re vi s e d pa yme nt s che dul e .

As  pa rt of the  a rra nge me nts , Mr Al l s worth wi l l  con�nue  i n the  ma na ge me nt te a m of Re vol u�on Be a uty La bs , but not a s  a
forma l  di re ctor.

I  a m pl e a s e d to ha ve  the s e  s e Sl e me nts  be hi nd us , dra wi ng a  l i ne  unde r a  pe ri od of unce rta i nty a nd me a ni ng tha t the
Group ca n move  forwa rd.

REGULATOR ACTION

The  Compa ny i nforme d the  s ha re hol de rs  on 21 Jul y 2023 tha t the  Fi na nci a l  Conduct Authori ty (the  "FCA") ha d no�fie d
Re vol u�on Be a uty tha t i t ha d comme nce d a n i nve s �ga �on i nto pote n�a l  bre a che s  of the  Ma rke t Abus e  Re gul a �on (EU)
596/2014 (a s  i t forms  pa rt of UK dome s �c l a w by vi rtue  of the  Europe a n Uni on (Wi thdra wa l ) Act 2018) i n re l a �on to ce rta i n
ma Se rs  i n the  pe ri od from Jul y 2021 to Se pte mbe r 2022. Re vol u�on Be a uty i s  coope ra �ng ful l y wi th the  FCA a nd wi l l  provi de
upda te s  i n due  cours e .

 

OUR PEOPLE

I  woul d l i ke  to ta ke  thi s  opportuni ty to tha nk our s ha re hol de rs  for the i r con�nue d s upport a nd confide nce  i n Re vol u�on
Be a uty Group. I  woul d a l s o l i ke  to e xpre s s  my gra �tude  to our de di ca te d e mpl oye e s , whos e  ha rd work a nd pa s s i on a re  the
dri vi ng force  be hi nd our s ucce s s .

 

LOOKING FORWARD

Looki ng a he a d, we  a re  op�mi s �c a bout the  future  of Re vol u�on Be a uty. We  s e e  tre me ndous  opportuni �e s  for growth a nd
e xpa ns i on, both dome s �ca l l y a nd i nte rna �ona l l y, a nd we  re ma i n commi Se d to de l i ve ri ng i nnova �ve  products  a nd
e xce pti ona l  cus tome r products .

I  a m confide nt tha t the  Group i s  we l l -pos i �one d to de l i ve r va l ue  to our s ha re hol de rs  a nd s ta ke hol de rs  i n the  ye a rs  to
come . Toge the r, we  wi l l  conti nue  to Re vol uti oni s e  the  be a uty i ndus try a nd cre a te  l ong-te rm s us ta i na bl e  va l ue .

 

Alistair McGeorge

Non-Exe cuti ve  Cha i r

25 June  2024

 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REVIEW

INTRODUCTION

I t i s  with great pride and enthus iasm that I  address  you today as  the C EO  of Revolu�on Beauty plc in the first Annual  Report
s ince my appointment in September. As  we reflect on the past year, I  am pleased to report that our company has  returned to
positive profi tabi l i ty and demonstrated res i l ience in the face of chal lenges.

The l iVing of the suspension of trading in the Group's  shares  during the year, and the appointment of the new management
team, brought to a  close a  tumultuous period for the Group.

I , with my new management team, am pleased to say that as  we review the F Y24 performance we are firmly focused on the
future and opportunities  ahead at this  exci ting time in the Group's  history.

The F Y24 results  reflect the start of major strategic changes  that are taking place in the bus iness  to create an efficient cost
base from which the company can grow. The opera�ng model  i s  being transformed to del iver efficiency and enable the
Group to del iver growth in an attractive global  beauty market.

The major changes  have included s impl i fying our brand offering, moving from seven brands across  eleven categories  to
three brands across  seven categories . We have also reduced the excess ive volume of new products  being launched, to focus
on bui lding a  profi table and sustainable new product pipel ine.

This  op�misa�on of our product porKol io releases  resources  and investment to unlock the major profitable growth
opportunities  for our Masterbrand, Revolution, and our value brand, Relove, global ly.

The Masterbrand, Revolu�on, wi l l  con�nue to bring innova�ve products , inspired by our community, to the mass  beauty
market faster than the compe��on, but by re-establ ishing a  digi ta l  test and learn model , a longs ide a streaml ined product
portfol io we can scale profi tably to our phys ical  distribution footprint.

Alongs ide the porKol io s impl ifica�on, the company has  a lso implemented a rigorous  control  environment fol lowing the
investigation process  that was  completed in 2023.

By op�mis ing the brand porKol io, by powering up our major product categories  of cosme�cs  and skincare and with
focussed growth global ly both by market and channel , I  am confident we can unlock the many opportuni�es  ahead of us  as
a company. These steps  wi l l  del iver our vis ion to revolu�onise beauty for every 'you' and become a top five mass  beauty
player by 2030.

FY24 PERFORMANCE

We are pleased to report the results  for the year ended 29 February 2024, with the Group returning to profit. Turnover grew
by 1.8% to £191.3m (F Y23 £187.8m) and the Group reports  profit before tax of £11.4m compared with a  loss  of £33.9m in



by 1.8% to £191.3m (F Y23 £187.8m) and the Group reports  profit before tax of £11.4m compared with a  loss  of £33.9m in
FY23.

Adjusted EB I TDA for the period was pos i�ve £12.6m compared to a  loss  of £7.5m in F Y23. The improvement in performance
was driven by improved inventory purchas ing, beSer control  of overhead and direct costs , including reduced marke�ng
investment.

During the year, we achieved a smal l  increase in Group sales , up 1.8% to £191.3m as  compared to the same 12-month
period last year. This  performance includes  a  major benefit from the sel l  through of materia l  amounts  of excess  inventory
in the fi rst hal f of the year.

O ur gross  margin in the year improved to 46.2% from 40.4% in F Y23. The improvement was driven largely from reduced
inventory provis ion charges. The reduced charges  were achieved with a  more focussed purchas ing plan based on a
s ignificantly op�mised product assortment global ly. This  smarter opera�onal  del ivery brought s ignificant improvements
to our retai l  service levels  in the second hal f of the year, driving sales  of our core products  and removing the excess
inventory purchas ing of previous  years . These cash savings  wi l l  in turn al low further investment in our growth strategy
going forward.

The Group con�nues to trade with two strategic routes  to market for offline trade; direct retai l  in our key markets  of the UK ,
US, Germany and APAC and through our network of distributor partners  through other geographies . I n total  the company is
now present in over 75 markets  around the world.

Sales  in UK  direct retai l  con�nued to grow in F Y24, supported by the inventory clearance program, our core Revolu�on
master-brand make-up assortment and our Revolution Pro skincare franchise.

We saw a 14.9% decl ine in sales  in our USA bus iness  during F Y24. Performance was impacted by reduced US focused
marke�ng investment and poor service levels  to major customers. W ith the op�mised product porKol io, we are now
del ivering strong service to a l l  retai l  customers  in the market and have just launched a US focused marke�ng program to
drive brand awareness  and convers ion. We have a new P res ident in place, Erin Cast, who has  deep US beauty experience,
and a focused strategy, I  am sure she and the team wi l l  enable the brand to ful fi l  i ts  potentia l  moving forward.

O ur Rest of World direct Retai l  and distributor channels  are a  fundamental  part of our strategy and this  bus iness  grew
22.8% in F Y24, demonstra�ng the excitement around the brand and the demand for our products  in new markets . O ur
strategy of local is ing for key markets , both with our product porKol io and marke�ng campaigns, i s  proving highly effec�ve
and we have many opportunities  ahead, both in existing markets  and new terri tories .

O ur digi ta l  bus iness  has  two major channels , our third-party wholesale digi ta l  bus iness  and our own ecommerce s i tes .
O ur third- party wholesale digi ta l  bus iness  grew in the year, with strong growth from major digi ta l  partners  including
Amazon EU & Zalando. To accelerate further we are launching Amazon US & Tik Tok shop in H1 FY25.

O ur own ecommerce s i tes  saw reduced sales  in F Y24, driven by a  strategic decis ion in H1 to s ignificantly reduce non-
profitable traffic driving marke�ng investments . Despite the reduc�on in traffic driving marke�ng, the bus iness  increased
both convers ion and average order value in H2. We also drove incremental  value from our loyalty scheme. We have robust
plans  in place to elevate our digi ta l  proposi�on in F Y25 profitably, including an improve ecommerce proposi�on for the US
market and new marketplace partnerships .

CURRENT TRADING AND OUTLOOK

The post year end trading has  con�nued to perform in l ine with our internal  expecta�ons. We con�nue to execute our
Masterbrand strategy, which requires  a  reduc�on in both brands and S KUs and means we wi l l  not address  certain aspects
of sales  made in H1 F Y24. We remain confident of growing the bus iness  in the short term and reigni�ng our core offering as
we work towards  our goal  of becoming a top five global  mass  beauty player by 2030.

I  would l ike to take this  opportunity to express  my gra�tude to our dedicated team, who's  hard work and pass ion have been
instrumental  to the del ivery of this  performance through a chal lenging year. The talent on show within team Revolu�on
since I  joined the Group has  been so impress ive and I  am excited to see how the team develops  as  we execute our strategy
over the coming years .

I  would a lso l ike to thank our loyal  customers  and shareholders  for their con�nued support and confidence in Revolu�on
Beauty.

As  we embark on the next chapter of our journey, I  am confident that together, we wi l l  con�nue to Revolu�onise the beauty
industry.

 

Lauren Brindley
Chief Executive Officer
25 June 2024
 

 

 

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The fol lowing results  are presented for the year ended 29 February 2024. Fol lowing the publ ica�on of the F Y22 Annual
Report and Accounts  and the H1 F Y23 interims, the suspension on the Company's  shares  was  l iVed and the shares  have
been trading as  normal  s ince 28 June 2023.

REVENUE Year ended
29 February

2024
£'M

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'M

 

 
Change

£'000

 
 

 
%

By business channel:

Digital 42.3 22.1% 51.0 27.2% (8.7) (17.1%)

Stores 149.0 77.9% 136.8 72.8% 12.2 8.9%

Total revenue 191.3  187.8  3.5 1.9%

By region:

UK 62.5 32.7% 67.0 35.7% (4.5) (6.7%)

US 44.2 23.1% 51.9 27.6% (7.7) (14.8%)

ROW 84.6 44.2% 68.9 36.7% 15.7 22.8%

Total revenue 191.3  187.8  3.5 1.9%

 
 

As shown in the table above, Group revenue increased by £3.5m to £191.3m in the year ended 29 February 2024 (2023:
£187.8m). This  revenue growth was achieved whi lst the bus iness  went through a period of s ignificant change as  a  result of
the issues  that arose from the internal  investigation conducted ahead the Group's  readmiss ion to the AIM market.

Revenue in the year increased by £3.5m or 1.9%. Revenue performance varied across  the Group's  geographic repor�ng



Revenue in the year increased by £3.5m or 1.9%. Revenue performance varied across  the Group's  geographic repor�ng
segments , the UK  decl ined by 6.7%, a l though UK  Store Group Revenue actual ly grew, digi ta l  revenue decl ined as  digi ta l
marketing spend was reduced and customers  continued the return to the high street. The

US decl ined by 14.8%, driven by store Group revenue decl ines  as  the US bus iness  went through a period of vola�l i ty. The
ROW segment grew by 22.8%, driven by growth in direct retai l  and sales  through distributors  channels .

Store revenue increased by £12.2m or 8.9% to £149.0m (2023: £136.8m). UK  store group revenue grew by 2.0%, the US
decl ined by 14.8% and the ROW  grew by 22.8%. Decl ines  in the US were s ignificantly impacted by the changes  taking place
in the bus iness  during the year, s teps  have been taken to stabi l i se the US bus iness  in recent months.

F Y24 has  seen a con�nua�on of the return to high street shopping in the wake of the COVI D-19 pandemic. This  trend,
coupled with a  reduc�on in the onl ine marke�ng spend as  the Group consol idated i ts  cash pos i�on earl ier in the year, has
resulted in a  reduc�on in sales  through the Groups own ecommerce channels . Sales  through our digi ta l  partners  were in
l ine with FY23.

US revenue decreased by £7.7m, the Group retained cons istent distribu�on throughout the US and remains  focussed on this
key market. I n the Rest of the World (ROW ) we saw 22.8% growth overal l , which was driven by 45% growth in revenue from
our distributer channel , which remains  a  key source of growth as  we enter new markets .

 

 

 

 

PROFITS Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

 

 
Change

£'000

Gross profit 88,355 75,884 12,471

Marketing and distribution costs (47,132) (57,469) (10,337)

Administrative expenses (37,899) (42,161) (4,262

Impairment losses on financial assets (1,035) (204) 831

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (75) (2,177) (2,102

Impairment of goodwill - (3,388) (3,388

Provision for legal cases (293) (1,066) (773

Other income 2,414 - 2,414

Operating profit/(loss) 4,335 (30,581) 34,916

Net finance income/(costs) 7,108 (3,293) 10,401

Profit/(loss) before taxation 11,443 (33,874) 45,317

Gross profit margin 46.2% 40.4% 5.8ppt

 
Gross  margin for the year ended 29 February 2024 improved s ignificantly to 46.2%/£88.4m (F Y2023: 40.4%/£75.9m) as  a
result of improved inventory management, and s ignificant reduc�on in the inventory provis ion charges. The margin at H1
was higher at 49.4% due to seasonal i ty, with higher seasonal  promo�ons in H2 and a higher propor�on of the inventory
provis ion release occurring in H1 fol lowing the implementation of managements  exi t s trategy for s low-moving inventory.

W hi lst there wi l l  be ongoing movements  in the inventory provis ion due to levels  of New P roduct Development (NP D), Net
Real isable Value (NRV) and s low-moving inventory, the movement between F Y23 and F Y24 has  reduced due to the ac�ons
taken by new management to manage inventory purchas ing, establ ish exi t routes  for s low-moving inventory and focus  NP D
on fewer better products .

Adjusted EB I TDA increased from a loss  of £7.5m in F Y23 to a  profit of £12.6m in F Y24. The main driver for this  profit was
the improvement in the gross  margin described above, a  control led reduc�on in marke�ng during a  focus  on l iquidity early
in the year and lower distribu�on costs  compared to F Y23 which was impacted by the s ignificant decrease in global  freight
rates . In addition, the bus iness  has  decreased operating costs  in FY24, driven by the removal  of internal  warehouse costs .

O pera�ng profit for the year ended 29 February 2024 of £4.6m increased by £35.2m (2023 opera�ng loss : £30.6m). This
was due to a  number of factors :

•              I mprovement in gross  profit (£12.8m) driven by reduc�on in inventory provis ion charges  and lower freight rates
fol lowing record levels  previous ly experienced.

•              Reduc�on in one off cost incurred in F Y24; impairment of assets  (reduced by £2.1m, mostly from the ful l
impairment of the acquis i�on of Medichem), and the recogni�on of the seSlement income with the Group's  co-
founder and former CEO (£2.4m) (see note 5 to the financial  s tatements  for detai ls )

•              Decrease in spend on stand updates  (£2.9m) fol lowing the increased spend in the prior year catching up with
updates  missed during the pandemic and decrease in marketing and distribution spend (£4.8m)

Profi t before taxation for the year increased to £11.4m (2023: Loss  before taxation £33.9m), an improvement of £45.3m.

 

 

FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

O n 12 December 2023 the Group announced that i t had reached agreement to s ign a  second deed of varia�on in respect of
the �ming and value of payments  of deferred cons idera�on for i ts  acquis i�on of Revolu�on Beauty Labs  Limited (Formerly:
Medichem Manufacturing Limited). The amendment to the deferred cons idera�on payable resulted in a  net gain of £8.8m
being recognised within finance income (see note 24 to the financial  s tatements  for detai ls ).

TAXATION

The Group's  tax charge increased from a credit of £0.2m to a  charge of £0.7m. The increase to the tax charge was the result
of the Group's  return to profi tabi l i ty.

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAXATION

Profi t after taxation increased to £10.7m (2023: Loss  after taxation £33.7m).

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The Group uses  a  number of Alterna�ve Performance Measures  ("AP Ms") in addi�on to those measures  reported in



The Group uses  a  number of Alterna�ve Performance Measures  ("AP Ms") in addi�on to those measures  reported in
accordance with I F RS. Such AP Ms are not defined terms under I F RS and are not intended to be a subs�tute for any I F RS
measure. The Directors  bel ieve that the AP Ms are important when assess ing the underlying financial  and opera�ng
performance of the Group. Ful l  detai ls  of the adjus�ng charges  incurred during the year are presented in Note 5 to the
financial  s tatements .

The adjus�ng i tems iden�fied as  non-recurring in nature are set out below and were cons idered in calcula�ng the adjusted
profi ts . Adjusting Items are defined in Note 2 and Note 5.

Year
ended 29
February

2024
£'000

Year
ended 28

February
2023
£'000

 

 
Change

£'000

Operating profit/(loss) 4,335 (30,581) 34,916

Depreciation, amortisation & impairment 5,180 15,867 (10,687)

Share-based payment 2,372 303 2,069

(Profit)/Loss on disposal of asset (6) 62 (68)

Adjusting items:

Settlement Income (2,414) - (2,414)

Acquisition costs - 262 (262)

Restructuring costs 1,439 1,310 129

Provision for legal cases (1,644) 1,474 (3,118)

Legal and professional fees 2,917 3,528 (611)

Audit Fees 391 300 91

Total adjusting items added back 791 6,874 (6,083)

Adjusted EBITDA 12,570 (7,475) 20,045

Adjusted EBIT 7,396 (23,404) 30,800

Net finance income/(costs) (7,107) 3,293 (10,400)

Adjusting items:

Gain on amendment of deferred consideration (10,243) - (10,243)

Adjusted PBT 4,260 (26,697) 30,957

 
Adjusted EB I TDA increased by £20.1m to a  profit of £12.6m during the year (2023: £7.5m loss). The increase in EB I TDA was
primari ly due to the reduc�on in inventory provis ion aVer the ac�ons taken to establ ish exi t routes  for s low-moving
inventory, and to better manage inventory purchas ing.

Deprecia�on, amor�sa�on and impairment was  s ignificantly lower as  a  result of the impairments  to stands  and goodwi l l
made in F Y23. The remaining amount of goodwi l l  and assets  acquired for Medichem were impaired in F Y23, bringing the
carrying value to zero, as  a  result in changes  to forecast performance.

Changes  in the leadership of the company and certain other minor restructuring ac�vity that took place in the year resulted
in one off cost associated with the restructure.

Significant one off legal  and profess ional  fees  were incurred in rela�on to the comple�on of the I ndependent I nves�ga�on
and the subsequent legal  settlements  with the Group's  co-founders  and previous  Directors .

Addi�onal , excep�onal  legal  fees  were associated to the work required to enable the suspension on the Company's  shares
to be l i fted in July 2023 and the requis i tioned general  meeting raised by the Group's  major shareholder, boohoo Group plc.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESOURCES

 
As at

29 February
2024
£'000

As at
28 February

2023
Restated

£'000

 
 

 
Change

£'000

Intangible assets 4,934 5,728 (794)

Property, plant and equipment 9,242 7,928 1,314

Right of use asset 4,177 2,310 1,867

Other receivable 1,931 - 1,931

Deferred tax asset 496 - 496

Non-current assets 20,780 15,966 4,814

Current assets excluding cash 89,635 102,416 (12,781)

Liabilities excluding borrowings (87,088) (110,840) 23,752

Cash and cash equivalents 8,636 11,044 (2,408)

Borrowings (31,785) (31,721) (64)

Net debt (23,149) (20,677) (2,472)

Net assets/(liabilities) 178 (13,135) 13,313

 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS

The Group states  property, plant and equipment at cost, less  deprecia�on or provis ion for impairment. Non- current assets
as  at 29 February 2024 increased to £20.8m (2023: £16.0m), mainly due to the recogni�on of the legal  seSlement reached
with one of the Company's  co-founders  and former C EO, which is  to be paid in s ix equal  instalments  annual ly between 28
March 2024 and 28 March 2029, the instalments  due aVer twelve months  from the balance sheet date have been
recognised as  a  non-current asset.

CURRENT ASSETS

Current assets  excluding cash decreased to £89.6m as  at 29 February 2024 (2023: £102.4m). The inventory balance was
lower at £40.8m (2023: £47.6m) which was due to the improvement in inventory purchas ing. There was a  decrease in Trade
Receivables  of £11.0m due to the �ming of sales  in the current and prior year, as  wel l  as  an improved recovery of aged
debt. O ther receivables  have increased by £3.0m represen�ng the reimbursement asset on a copyright infringement legal
case and fi rst instalment of the legal  settlement with the Company's  co-founder and former CEO.



LIABILITIES

The decrease in total  l iabi l i�es  excluding borrowings  as  at 29 February 2024 of £23.8m relates  mainly to the decrease in
trade payables  of £16.0m due to the ac�ve reduc�on in legacy payables  through agreed payment plans  with the largest
inventory suppl iers  and the improved inventory purchas ing process , and addi�onal ly the impact of foreign exchange.
Accruals  have also decreased by £2.0m predominantly due to the reduction in legal  and profess ional  costs .

LIQUIDITY

O n 29 February 2024, the Group had £8.6m cash, with gross  borrowing of £32m ful ly drawn from the Revolving Credit
Faci l i ty ('RC F'). The face value of the Group net debt is  £26.4m. The reported net debt of £31.8m is  aVer deduc�ng £0.2m of
prepaid fees. These figures  exclude the deferred cons ideration.

BANKING FACILITIES

As of 29 February 2024 the Group had a £32m RC F in place. As  announced on 8 February 2024, the Group s igned a twelve-
month extens ion to the £32m RC F, which wi l l  now run un�l  O ctober 2025 and be on terms cons istent with those agreed on
29 March 2023.  As  set out in the going concern disclosure in note 1 to the financial  s tatements , amendments  to the EB I TDA
covenant were made subsequent to the year end. As  a lso set out in note 1, compl iance with these covenants  is  forecast
under the base case scenario. However, under a  severe but plaus ible downside scenario, a  breach of the amended
covenants  is  poss ible, which has  resulted in the Directors  materia l  uncertainty assessment with regard to going concern.

CASHFLOW Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

 

 
Change

£'000

Net cash (used in) generated from operations 7,272 (1,959) 9,231

Income tax (753) 1,898 (2,651)

Net cash generated from operating activities 6,519 (61) 6,580

Purchase of intangible assets (270) (1,018) 748

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,265) (7,496) 3,231

Others 3 1 2

Net cash used in investing activities (4,532) (8,513) 3,981

Interest paid (2,634) (1,175) (1,459)

Drawdown of borrowings - 8,000 (8,000)

Issue of new shares 88 - 88

Others (2,172) (2,127) (45)

Net cash generated from financing activities (4,718) 4,698 (9,416)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash during the year (2,731) (3,876) 1,145

 
I n F Y24 net cash generated from opera�ons improved s ignificantly, by £9.2m year on year. W ithout the level  of adjus�ng
costs  incurred in the year par�cularly rela�ng to legal  and profess ional  fees  surrounding the I ndependent I nves�ga�on,
and ac�vi�es  to secure the l iVing of the suspension on the Company's  shares , together with s ignificant restructuring costs ,
the Group would have generated s igni ficant operating cash inflows.

ISSUE OF NEW SHARES

In FY24, a  total  of 8,791,984 ordinary shares  were issued under the share incentive plans, in note 29.

 

 

DIVIDEND

No ordinary dividends were paid during the year under review. The Directors  do not recommend payment of a  final
ordinary dividend for the year (2023: £ni l ). Cons istent with the guidance provided at I P O, the Group does  not envisage
paying dividends in the foreseeable future and intends to re-invest surplus  funds  in the development of the Group's
bus iness .

 

 

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS

The Directors  are responsible for preparing the Annual  Report and the Group and parent Company financial  s tatements  in
accordance with appl icable law and regulations.

Company law requires  the Directors  to prepare Group and parent Company financial  s tatements  for each financial  year.
Under that law the Directors  are required to prepare the Group financial  s tatements  in accordance with UK  adopted
I nterna�onal  Accoun�ng Standards  ('I F RSs ') and have elected to prepare the parent Company financial  s tatements  in
accordance with United K ingdom General ly Accepted Accoun�ng P rac�ce (United K ingdom Accoun�ng Standards  and
appl icable law), including F RS 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework'. Under company law the Directors  must not approve
the accounts  unless  they are sa�sfied that they give a  true and fa ir view of the state of affairs  of the Group and Company
and of the profi t or loss  of the Group for that period.

In preparing the Group financial  s tatements , International  Accounting Standard 1 requires  that Directors :

•              properly select and apply accounting pol icies ;

•              present informa�on, including accoun�ng pol icies , in a  manner that provides  relevant, rel iable, comparable and
understandable information;

•              provide addi�onal  disclosures  when compl iance with the specific requirements  in I F RSs  are insufficient to enable
users  to understand the impact of par�cular transac�ons, other events  and condi�ons on the en�ty's  financial
pos ition and financial  performance; and

•              make an assessment of the Group's  abi l i ty to continue as  a  going concern.

In preparing the Parent Company financial  s tatements , the Directors  are required to:

•              select suitable accounting pol icies  and then apply them consistently;

•              make judgements  and accounting estimates  that are reasonable and prudent;



•              s tate whether appl icable UK  Accoun�ng Standards  have been fol lowed, subject to any materia l  departures
disclosed and explained in the financial  s tatements; and

•              prepare the financial  s tatements  on the going concern bas is  unless  i t i s  inappropriate to presume that the
Company wi l l  continue in bus iness .

The Directors  are responsible for keeping adequate accoun�ng records  that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's  transac�ons and disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any �me, the financial  pos i�on of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial  s tatements  comply with the Companies  Act 2006. They are a lso responsible for
safeguarding the assets  of the Company and for taking reasonable steps  for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregulari ties .

The Directors  are responsible for the maintenance and integri ty of the corporate and financial  informa�on included on the
Company's  website. Legis lation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial  s tatements
may di ffer from legis lation in other jurisdictions.

Alistair McGeorge

Executive Chair 25 June 2024

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 29 February 2024

 
 

 
Note

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Revenue 7 191,287 187,842

Cost of sales (102,932) (111,958

Gross profit 88,355 75,884

Marketing and distribution costs (47,132) (57,469

Administrative expenses

- General administrative expenses (37,899) (42,161

- Impairment losses on financial assets (1,035) (204

- Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets  
17, 18

 
(75)

 
(2,177

- Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles 16 - (3,388

- Provision for legal cases 27 (293) (1,066

Total administrative expenses (39,302) (48,996

Other operating income 10 2,414 -

Operating profit/(loss) 10 4,335 (30,581

Finance income 12 10,247 1

Finance costs 13 (3,139) (3,294

Profit/(Loss) before taxation 11,443 (33,874

Income tax (expense)/credit 14 (743) 228

Profit/(Loss) for the year 10,700 (33,646

Other comprehensive income net of taxation
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations - may be
reclassified to profit and loss

 

 
153

 

 
(223

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year 10,853 (33,869

Earnings per share (p) 15 3.4 (10.9

Diluted earnings per share (p) 15 3.2 (10.9

Adjusted EBITDA* 5 12,570 (7,475

 
*Adjusted EB I TDA is  a  non-GAAP  measure and is  defined as  O pera�ng Loss  adjusted for deprecia�on and amor�sa�on,
impairments  and reversals  of impairment, profits  and losses  on the disposal  of assets , share based charges  and releases
and operating adjusting i tems as  disclosed in note 4.

The fol lowing notes  are an integral  part of these financial  s tatements .

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 29 February 2024

 
 

 
 

Note

 

As at
29 February

2024
£'000

As at
28 February

2023
Restated

£'000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 16 4,934 5,728

Property, plant and equipment 17 9,242 7,928

Right-of-use assets 18 4,177 2,310

Other receivables 20 1,931 -

Deferred tax asset 26 496 -

Total non-current assets 20,780 15,966

Current assets
Inventories 19 40,775 47,606

Trade and other receivables 20 42,739 50,731

Reimbursement asset 27 6,122 4,079

Cash and cash equivalents 21 8,636 11,044



Cash and cash equivalents 21 8,636 11,044

Total current assets 98,272 113,460

Current liabilities
Lease liabilities 18 (894) (2,060)

Trade and other payables 22 (67,249) (82,730)

Deferred consideration 24 - (10,910)

Provisions 27 (6,622) (7,060)

Borrowings 23 - (31,721)

Corporation tax payable (579) (28)

Total current liabilities (75,344) (132,509)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 22,928 (19,049)

Total assets less current liabilities 43,708 (3,083)

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 18 (3,481) (954)

Borrowings 23 (31,785) -

Deferred consideration 24 (8,264) (9,098))

Total non-current liabilities (43,530) (10,052)

Net assets/(liabilities) 178 (13,135)

Equity

Share capital 30 3,185 3,097

Share premium 103,487 103,487

Warrant reserve 7,239 7,239

Merger reserve 14,860 14,860

Translation reserve 599 446

Retained earnings (129,192) (142,264)

Total (deficit)/equity 178 (13,135)

The fol lowing notes  are an integral  part of these financial  s tatements  and refer to Note 4 for detai led informa�on on the
correction of prior period errors .

These financial  s tatements  of Revolu�on Beauty Group plc, registered number 11666025, were approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors  on 25 June 2024 and were s igned on i ts  behal f by:

Neil Catto, Director

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
 

 
Note

Share
capital
£'000

Share
premium

£'000

Warrant
reserve
£'000

Merger
reserve
£'000

Translation
reserve
£'000

Retained
earnings

£'000

Total
equity
£'000

Balance at 1 March 2022 3,097 103,487 7,239 14,860 669 (108,921) 20,431

Loss for the year - - - - - (33,646) (33,646)

Other comprehensive income net of
taxation:

Foreign operations - foreign currency
translation differences

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
(223)

 
-

 
(223)

Total comprehensive income/ expense for
the year

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
(223)

 
(33,646)

 
(33,869)

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:

Share-based payments - - - - - 303 303

Total transactions with owners - - - - - 303 303

Balance at 28 February 2023 3,097 103,487 7,239 14,860 446 (142,264) (13,135)

Profit for the year - - - - - 10,700 10,700

Other comprehensive income net of
taxation:

Foreign operations - foreign currency
translation differences

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
153

 
-

 
153

Total comprehensive income/
expense for the year

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
153

 
10,700

 
10,853

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:

Issue of shares 30 88 - - - - - 88

Share-based payments - - - - - 2,372 2,372

Total transactions with owners 88 - - - - 2,372 2,460

Balance at 29 February 2024 3,185 103,487 7,239 14,860 599 (129,192) 178

For the year ended 29 February 2024

 

The fol lowing notes  are an integral  part of these financial  s tatements .

 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 29 February 2024



 
 

 
Note

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Profit/(Loss) for the period 10,700 (33,646

Adjustments for:

Taxation charge/(credit) 14 743 (228

Finance costs 13 3,139 3,294

Finance income 12 (10,247) (1

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

 
17, 18

 
4,208

 
8,369

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

 
17, 18

 
75

 
2,177

Amortisation of intangible assets 16 897 1,933

Impairment of intangible assets 16 - 3,388

Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 17 2 -

Loss/(profit) on disposal of intangible assets 16 28 62

Equity settled share-based payment expense 2,372 303

Provisions movement 27 (201) 1,565

Movements in working capital:

Movement in inventories 6,933 (2,923)

Movement in receivables 3,523 3,791

Movement in payables (14,900) 9,957

Cash used in operations 7,272 (1,959

Income taxes received/(paid) (753) 1,898

Net cash generated by/(used in) operating activities 6,519 (61)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of intangible assets (270) (1,018

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,265) (7,496

Finance income 3 -1

Net cash used in investing activities (4,532) (8,513)

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid (2,634) (1,175

Proceeds from borrowings - 8,000

Proceeds from issue of shares, net of transaction costs 88 -

Payment of lease liabilities(1 ) (2,172) (2,127)

Net cash (used in)/generated by financing activities (4,718) 4,698

 
 

 
Note

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Cash and cash equivalents

Net decrease in the year (2,731) (3,876

At 1 March 21 11,044 15,619

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 323 (699)

At 29 February 21 8,636 11,044

(1)                    Payment of lease l iabi l i�es  includes  £49k (2023: £115k) of interest payments  and £2,069k (2023: £2,012k) of
principal  lease payments .
(2)                    The share-based payment charge for the year is  £2,370k (2023: £303k), of which £Ni l  (2023: £Ni l ) was  paid in
cash.
The fol lowing notes  are an integral  part of these financial  s tatements .

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 29 February 2024

1              GENERAL INFORMATION

Revolu�on Beauty Group plc ("the Company") i s  a  publ ic company l imited by shares , and incorporated in England and
Wales , with company number 11666025, and domici led in the United K ingdom. The Company l i s ted on the Alterna�ve
I nvestment Market (AI M) on 19 July 2021. The address  of the registered office is  201 Temple Chambers , 3-7 Temple Avenue,
London, EC4Y 0DT.

The Group ("the Group") cons ists  of Revolu�on Beauty Group plc and al l  of i ts  subs idiaries  as  l i s ted in note 4 to the
Company financial  s tatements .

The Group's  principal  ac�vity, bus iness  ac�vi�es  and other factors  l ikely affec�ng the Groups performance are set out in
the Chief Execu�ve O fficers  Review on pages  8 to 9 and the P rincipal  Risk and Uncertain�es  affec�ng the Group are set out
on pages  22 to 26.

These results  for the year ended 29 February 2024 are an excerpt from the Annual  Report & Accounts  2024 and do not
consti tute the Group's  statutory accounts  for 2024 or 2023.  Statutory accounts  for 2023 have been del ivered to the
Registrar of Companies , and those for 2024 wi l l  be del ivered fol lowing the Company's  Annual  General  Meeting.  The Auditor
has  reported on those accounts; their reports  were qual i fied and include an emphasis  of matter with regard to the
correction to prior year disclosed in note 4 to the financial  s tatements . The report a lso draws attention to the materia l
uncertainty over the Group's  abi l i ty to continue as  going concern, as  set out in note 2 to the financial  s tatements  by the
directors . They did not contain statements  under Sections  498(2) or (3) of the Companies  Act 2006 or equivalent preceding
legis lation.

2              SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis  of preparation

The financial  s tatements  have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted I nterna�onal  Accoun�ng Standards  ("I F RS").
The financial  s tatements  have been prepared on the historical  cost bas is .



The financial  s tatements  have been prepared on the historical  cost bas is .

The financial  s tatements  are prepared and presented in Sterl ing, which is  the func�onal  currency of the Company.
Monetary amounts  in these financial  s tatements  are rounded to the nearest £'000.

P rior period adjustments  made to the amounts  reported in the Company's  2023 financial  s tatements  have been set out in
note 4.

Measurement convention

The financial  s tatements  have been prepared under the historical  cost conven�on except for, where disclosed in the
accoun�ng pol icies , certain i tems shown at fa i r value. Historical  cost i s  general ly based on the fa ir value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods, services  and assets .

The prepara�on of financial  s tatements  in conformity with I F RS requires  management to make es�mates  and assump�ons
that affect the reported amounts  of revenues, expenses, assets  and l iabi l i�es , and the disclosure of con�ngent l iabi l i�es  at
the repor�ng date. I f in the future, such es�mates  and assump�ons which are based on management's  best judgement at
the repor�ng date, deviate from the actual  ci rcumstances, the original  es�mates  and assump�ons wi l l  be modified as
appropriate in the year in which the ci rcumstances  change.

Cri�cal  accoun�ng es�mates  and key sources  of es�ma�on uncertainty in applying the accoun�ng pol icies  are disclosed
in note 3.

Basis of consolidation

The consol idated financial  s tatements  incorporate those of Revolu�on Beauty Group plc and al l  of i ts  subs idiaries  (as
included in note 4 of the parent enti ty accounts).

W here the company has  control  over an investee, i t i s  class ified as  a  subs idiary. The company controls  an investee i f a l l
three of the fol lowing elements  are present: power over the investee, exposure to variable returns  from the investee, and the
abi l i ty of the investor to use i ts  power to affect those variable returns. Control  i s  reassessed whenever facts  and
circumstances  indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements  of control .

De-facto control  exists  in s i tua�ons where the company has  the prac�cal  abi l i ty to direct the relevant ac�vi�es  of the
investee without holding the majori ty of the vo�ng rights . I n determining whether de-facto control  exists  the company
considers  a l l  relevant facts  and ci rcumstances, including:

•              The s ize of the company's  vo�ng rights  rela�ve to both the s ize and dispers ion of other par�es  who hold vo�ng
rights

•              Substantive potentia l  voting rights  held by the company and by other parties

•              Other contractual  arrangements

•              Historic patterns  in voting attendance.

The consol idated financial  s tatements  present the results  of the company and i ts  subs idiaries  ("the Group") as  i f they
formed a s ingle enti ty. Intercompany transactions  and balances  between group companies  are therefore el iminated in ful l .

W here necessary, adjustments  are made to the financial  s tatements  of subs idiaries  to bring the accoun�ng pol icies  used
into l ine with those used by other members  of the Group.

Business Combinations

The cost of a  bus iness  combina�on is  the fa ir value at acquis i�on date of the assets  given, equity instruments  issued, and
l iabi l i�es  incurred or assumed. The excess  of the cost of a  bus iness  combina�on over the fa ir value of the iden�fiable
assets , l iabi l i�es  and con�ngent l iabi l i�es  acquired is  recognised as  goodwi l l . Costs  directly aSributable to the bus iness
combination are expensed to the profi t or loss  as  incurred.

Going concern Base Case Forecast

Having achieved the l iVing of the suspension of the Company's  shares  on AI M on 28 June 2023 and del ivered sales  growth
of 1.9% on the previous  year, with a  return to profitabi l i ty at the Adjusted EB I TDA level , the Group has  updated i ts  base case
forecast for the period through to August 2025 to reflect the management team's  latest expectations.

The Group set out i ts  refreshed strategy in February, with a  focus  on the core Masterbrand to drive global  growth by
powering up i ts  core, underpinned by smarter opera�ons and improved financial  rigour. This  new strategy is  des igned to
del iver long term growth across  the Group's  regions  and channels , through the strength of the Masterbrand. I n the short
term, the Group wi l l  no longer address  certain brand and category sales  that had previous ly driven revenue, whi lst not
always  achieving the profitabi l i ty that the management team expect. Therefore, a  soVness  in sales  in the short term is
expected as  the Group rebalances  i ts  revenues and pos i�ons i tsel f to capital ise on i ts  new strategy. This  has  been seen in
recent months  as  sales  in the final  months  of FY24, and early FY25, have not reached the levels  of the preceding year.

Management have determined that the period up to the end of August 2025 is  the relevant period over which to cons ider the
Groups performance for the assessment of going concern and have therefore forecast

opera�onal  and financial  performance over that period. Twelve months  has  been selected as  the going concern period
because forecas�ng over this  period is  the most accurate, the further out the forecast the greater l ikel ihood of vola�l i ty.
The three months  to 31 May 2024 have shown sales  performing below levels  seen in the previous  year, which was expected
as  the implementa�on of the new strategy takes  place. The updated base case to July 2024 forecasts  that the Group wi l l
generate cash as  i t bui lds  sustainable growth from a sol id core bus iness  and wi l l  then be wel l  pos i�oned to accelerate in
the years  to come.

I n addi�on to sustainable growth in sales , the base case forecasts  that the management team's  strategy wi l l  drive
improvements  in working capital , with inventory and receivables  managed in l ine with trading volumes. Exis�ng trading
terms with suppl ier and customers  are forecast to be maintained under the base case.

Cost reduc�on measures  taken over the last two years  have been adhered to and the Group con�nues to take steps  to
address  i ts  costs  base. The right balances  of marke�ng and capital  investment is  key to the del ivery of the strategy and
returning to growth as  quickly as  poss ible.

The s ignificant accoun�ng changes  made in the prior year remain and form the bas is  of the Groups repor�ng and forecast
model , the appl ica�on of more rigorous  financial  repor�ng and control  appl ied fol lowing the readmiss ion of the Group's
shares  to the AIM market continues  as  i t moves  forward.

The Groups gross  inventory balance has  reduced s ignificantly once again, resul�ng in a  further reduc�on in i ts  inventory
provis ion s ince F Y23. I nventory reduc�ons have been driven by a  more ra�onal ised purchas ing program, which is  more
targeted to the Group's  demand forecast. I n addi�on, s ignificant amounts  of older inventory have been sold through the
Groups outlet channels  or destroyed where no longer cons idered to be of any value.

Lending Arrangements

O n 30 March 2023 the Group announced that i t had secured an amended faci l i ty agreement with i ts  banking partners  (the
"Lenders"). The amendment includes  a  waiver of breaches  of the terms of the original  agreement. As  part of the amended
faci l i ty agreement, the overal l  s ize of the faci l i ty was  agreed at £32m, reduced from £40m, and is  ful ly drawn.

O n the 8 February 2024, the Group s igned a twelve-month extens ion to the faci l i ty, to run un�l  O ctober 2025 on unchanged
terms.



terms.

Revised covenants  remain in place and include a minimum l iquidity threshold of £5.0 mi l l ion and an Adjusted EB I TDA
covenant. Certain non-financial  covenants  that appl ied fol lowing the amendments  of the agreement were compl ied with
and are no longer in place. Adjusted EB I TDA covenant is  tested quarterly and the minimum l iquidity threshold is  tested
weekly.

O n 4 June 2024, a  further amendment to the faci l i ty was  s igned to reduce the Adjusted EB I TDA covenant through the
remaining term of the faci l i ty.

The Directors  are of the view that the reduced faci l i ty provides  the bus iness  with sufficient l iquidity as  i t con�nues
del ivering i ts  strategy for the Going Concern period. The faci l i ty matures  in O ctober 2025, i t i s  the board's  inten�on and
expecta�on that the faci l i ty wi l l  be refinanced during F Y25. The Group con�nues to enjoy the support of i ts  banking
partners , management bel ieve that recent progress  in stabi l i s ing, real igning the strategy, genera�ng cash, ensuring
covenant compl iance and ra�onal is ing the cost base have pos i�oned the Group wel l  for refinancing i ts  debt faci l i�es , and
is  confident of refinancing beyond October 2025.

The remaining non-financial  covenants  include a condi�on that would result in an Event of Default occurring where the
auditors  qual i fy the annual  consol idated financial  s tatements . The lenders  have provided a waiver in respect of the
covenant rela�ng to the Auditors  qual ifica�ons in their audit report for these financial  s tatements  as  was  indicated in the
FY23 financial  s tatements .

The forecast results  under the base case indicate that the Group wi l l  remain in compl iance with financial  covenants
throughout the going concern period.

O n 7 March 2023 the Group announced that i t had reached an agreement in respect of the �ming of payments  of deferred
considera�on for i ts  acquis i�on of Medichem Manufacturing Limited. A Deed of Varia�on dated 6 March 2023 was s igned
which amends the terms of the deferred cons idera�on and comple�on net asset adjustment, adjus�ng the �ming of the
payment.

O n 12 December 2023 the Group announced that i t had reached agreement to s ign a  second deed of varia�on in respect of
the timing and value of payments  of deferred cons ideration for i ts  acquis i tion of Medichem Manufacturing Limited.

Downside Scenarios

Under the base case scenario, the lowest amount of headroom against the minimum l iquidity covenant is  £741k in June
2024, the lowest test point in the EBITDA covenant is  August 2024, when there is  £819k of headroom.

I n addi�on to the base case scenario, the Group has  cons idered the poten�al  impact of a  severe but plaus ible downside
scenario. Under the severe but plaus ible scenario, a  10% reduc�on in total  sa les  from August 2024, driven by consumer
demand in the beauty market caused by wider economic factors  has  been model led. Under such ci rcumstances  the Group
would need to take ac�on to reduce costs , which would include, but not be l imited to, reducing capital  expenditure,
marketing and general  overheads including people costs .

I n such a scenario, i f mi�ga�ng ac�ons were taken, the Group would remain in compl iance with i ts  covenants  throughout
the forecast period. However, the sens i�vity of the Adjusted EB I TDA performance under such ci rcumstances  suggests  that
there is  a  real is�c poss ibi l i ty that a  prolonged reduc�on in sales  of 10% could result in the Group breaching i ts  Adjusted
EBI TDA covenant. Were the Group exposed to a  s imi lar scenario and no mi�ga�ng ac�ons taken, the Adjusted EB I TDA
covenant would be breached in November 2024.

Under a  scenario in which the Groups revenue reduced to 10% below the forecast levels  in the base case from August 2024
onward and no mi�ga�ng ac�ons were taken, the Group would maintain headroom against i ts  minimum l iquidity
threshold throughout the forecast period, a l though a breach would be a real is�c poss ibi l i ty. The Directors  are confident
that under such a scenario, there would be sufficient �me for them to take ac�ons within their control  over the cost base to
prevent a  breach occurring.

I f the Group were to breach either of i ts  covenants , i t would be rel iant on the support of i ts  lenders  in order to be able to
con�nue to operate. The Group enjoys  a  good rela�onship with i ts  banking partners  and is  confident of their con�nued
support. The Group would have sufficient cash to continue operating under a l l  plaus ible scenarios  model led.

Conclusion

The Directors  are sa�sfied with the current performance of the bus iness  as  the trans i�on to the new strategy is  undertaken,
particularly given the disruption faced by the bus iness  in recent years .

Steps  taken with regard to the deferral  and renego�a�on of the Medichem considera�on and the amendment of the Groups
lending arrangements  and reduc�ons to the cost base are s ignificant in strengthening l iquidity and providing a  base from
which to grow.

Having cons idered the informa�on avai lable and recent changes  to the bus iness , the Directors  are sa�sfied that the base
case supports  the appl ication of the going concern assumption in preparation of the financial  s tatements .

However, the Directors  a lso recognise the con�nuing chal lenges  the bus iness  has  faced s ince i ts  shares  resumed trading
on AIM, including address ing legacy issues, as  wel l  as  the underperformance of sales  versus  previous  expectations, as  wel l
as  the uncertainty in the wider economy. As  noted above, the Directors  have reset the strategy with reduc�ons in forecast
expenditure and improvements  to the working capital  cycle cons idered to be commensurate with the level  of revenues
forecast. The current Board con�nue to bel ieve in this  strategy and look to enhance the bus iness  further so that i t i s  wel l
place to grow to del iver i ts  ful l  potentia l .

The Directors  are confident that the adopted strategy and ac�ons taken to address  the cost base and working capital  cycle
can be successful ly executed. I n the event that revenue fa l ls  below the level  forecast in the base case scenario, the
Directors  are a lso confident that they are able to take mi�ga�ng ac�ons within their control  to reduce costs  further on a
timely bas is , in order to maintain compl iance with the Adjusted EBITDA and minimum l iquidity covenant tests .

The Directors  acknowledge that, in the event ei ther a  financial  or non-financial  covenant were to be breached, due to ei ther
a downturn in opera�onal  ac�vity or the impact or �ming of seSlement of any financial  commitments , known or otherwise,
aris ing from legacy issues, the Group would be rel iant on i ts  lenders  not requiring immediate repayment of the outstanding
loan or obtaining al terna�ve finance in order to con�nue to operate as  a  going concern. The lenders  have provided a
waiver in respect of the covenant relating to the Auditor qual i fications  of their audit report on these financial  s tatements .

These factors , in conjunc�on with the sens i�vity iden�fied in the severe but plaus ible downside scenario with respect to
the Adjusted EB I TDA covenant, represent materia l  uncertainty which may cast s ignificant doubt over the Group's  abi l i ty to
con�nue to operate as  a  going concern. The financial  s tatements  do not include the adjustments  that would be required
should the going concern bas is  of preparation no longer be appropriate.

 

Standards, amendments  and interpreta�ons to exis�ng standards  that are not yet effec�ve and have not been early
adopted by the group.

The fol lowing standards  and interpreta�ons relevant to the Group have been publ ished for accoun�ng periods  aVer 1
March 2024 but have not been adopted by the UK and have not been appl ied in the preparation of the financial  s tatements .

Standard/amendment

Amendments  to IAS 1 - Class i fication of l iabi l i ties  as  current or non-current

Amendments  to IAS 1 - Non-current l iabi l i ties  with covenants



Amendments  to IAS 1 - Non-current l iabi l i ties  with covenants

Amendments  to IAS 21 - The effects  of Changes  in Foreign Exchange Rate

The above standards  are not expected to impact the Group materia l ly.

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents  invoiced sale of goods to customers  net of sales  tax. Revenue is  recognised when control  of a  good is
transferred to the customer, which is  when the Group's  performance obl iga�ons are cons idered to have been met in l ine
with i ts  contracts  and is  adjusted for returns  and provis ions  for expected returns, discounts , rebates  and refunds.

Es�ma�on is  required in assess ing concess ions  provided to the customer such as  refunds and returns. Such es�mates  are
determined us ing ei ther the 'expected value' or 'most l ikely amount' method, which are determined by assess ing historic
concess ions  made to customers  for refunds and returns. P rovis ions  for refunds and returns  are recognised within trade
and other payables . Returns  are an area of s igni ficant judgement, as  set out below.

The Group sel ls  i ts  products  via  their own website and to third party onl ine retai lers  ("digi ta l") and wholesale sales  to
retai lers  and distributors  ("store groups").

Revenue from the sale of goods sold through the Group's  website is  recognised when the product is  del ivered to the
customer. Payment of the transac�on price is  due immediately when the customer purchases  the products . The Group's
pol icy is  to offer a  right of return i f no�fied within a  specified �me period. The Group therefore retains  an ins ignificant risk
of ownership through a digi ta l  sa le when a refund is  offered or when return goods are accepted i f a  customer is  not
sa�sfied. Revenue in such cases  is  recognised at the point of del ivery to the customer provided the Group can rel iably
es�mate future returns  and the Group recognises  a  l iabi l i ty for returns  against revenue based on previous  accumulated
experience and other factors .

LOYALTY SCHEME

The Group operates  a  loyalty card scheme for 'digi ta l ' customers  where points  are earned for products  purchased onl ine.
The Group accounts  for loyalty points  as  a  separately iden�fiable component of the sales  transac�on in which they are
granted. Deferred revenue is  recognised in rela�on to points  i ssued but not yet redeemed. Deferred revenue is  subsequently
recognised when the loyalty points  are redeemed or when they expire.

A por�on of the transac�on price is  a l located to the loyalty scheme points  based on rela�ve stand-alone sel l ing price of
the points  i ssued. W hen es�ma�ng rela�ve stand-alone sel l ing price, the Group assesses  the l ikel ihood that the customer
wi l l  redeem the points  based on historic redemption rates .

STORE GROUPS

Store group revenue is  recognised when �tle has  passed in accordance with the terms of the contract. The �ming of transfer
of control  in wholesale transac�ons is  ei ther when the goods have been col lected by the customer or when the goods have
been del ivered to the loca�on specified in the contract and the customer has  accepted the products  in accordance with the
sales  contract.

Sales  incen�ves, cash discounts  and product returns  are deducted from net sales , such as  commercial  coopera�on and
discounts . Incentives  granted to customers  are recorded as  a  deduction from net sales .

Sales  incen�ves, cash discounts , provis ions  for returns  and incen�ves  granted to distributors  and customers  are recorded
simultaneously to the recogni�on of sales  i f i t i s  highly probable that the incen�ve wi l l  be u�l ised., The determina�on of
whether incentives  wi l l  be uti l i sed is  based mainly on statistics  compi led from past experience and contractual  conditions.
Historical  experience enables  the group to es�mate rel iably the value of goods that wi l l  be returned, or the extent of
u�l isa�on of any incen�ve given, and restrict the amount of revenue that i s  recognised such that i t i s  highly probable that
there wi l l  not be a  reversal  of previous ly recognised revenue.

I n some cases, the Group can enter into arrangements  with customers  where payments  are made to compensate for certain
promo�onal  ac�ons or opera�onal  costs  for which the Group wi l l  be invoiced. As  such payments  cannot usual ly be
separated from the supply rela�onship, the compensa�on for promo�onal  ac�ons is  not deemed to be a dis�nct service
and therefore the Group recognises  the cons ideration paid as  a  deduction of revenue.

Foreign currencies

The financial  s tatements  are presented in Sterl ing, this  being the func�onal  currency of the primary economic environment
of the parent company.

Foreign currency transac�ons are trans lated into the func�onal  currency us ing the exchange rates  prevai l ing at the dates
of the transac�ons or valua�on where i tems are re-measured. Non-monetary i tems are not retrans lated. Foreign exchange
gains  and losses  resul�ng from the seSlement of such transac�ons and from the trans la�on at year-end exchange rates  of
monetary assets  and l iabi l i ties  denominated in foreign currencies  are recognised in the income statement.

O n consol ida�on, assets  and l iabi l i�es  of foreign opera�ons are trans lated into sterl ing at clos ing rate at the date of that
statement of financial  pos i�on. The results  of foreign opera�ons are trans lated into sterl ing at average rates  of exchange
for the year. Exchange differences  aris ing on trans la�ng net assets  at opening rate and the results  of overseas  opera�ons
at actual  rate are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the trans lation reserve.

Finance income and costs

Finance costs  comprise interest charged on l iabi l i ties  and finance costs  accruing from lease l iabi l i ties .

I nterest income and interest payable are recognised in the statement of comprehensive, us ing the effec�ve interest method.
Amounts  included in finance income and finance costs  are set out in notes  12 and 13 respectively.

 

 

Adjusting Items

Adjus�ng i tems are those which are non-recurring and not assessed to represent charges  and credits  incurred or gained in
the Group's  normal  course of bus iness  and are materia l  by s ize or nature. Al l  i tems iden�fied as  adjus�ng are set out in
note 5.

Segmental reporting

The Group has  one opera�ng segment; being i ts  retai l  bus iness . The Chief O pera�ng Decis ion Maker has  been iden�fied as
the board of directors  of Revolution Beauty Group plc, which receives  regular reporting on i ts  retai l  bus iness .

Property, plant and equipment

The Group states  property, plant and equipment at cost, less  accumulated deprecia�on and accumulated impairment.
Historical  cost includes  expenditure that i s  directly attributable to the acquis i tion of the i tems.

Subsequent costs  are included in the asset's  carrying amount or recognised as  a  separate asset, as  appropriate, only when
it i s  probable that future economic benefits  associated with the i tem wi l l  flow to the Group and the cost of the i tem can be
measured rel iably. The carrying amount of the replaced part i s  derecognised. Al l  other repairs  and maintenance are
charged to the income statement during the financial  period in which they are incurred.

Stands  are provided to retai l  customers  for displaying the Group's  products  in store. The Group recognises  stands  as



Stands are provided to retai l  customers  for displaying the Group's  products  in store. The Group recognises  stands  as
property, plant and equipment as  the Group are solely responsible for providing, maintaining and dispos ing of the stands
and therefore the Group is  cons idered to have control  of these assets .

Deprecia�on is  calculated us ing the straight-l ine method to write down assets ' cost amounts  to their res idual  values  over
their estimated useful  l ives . The estimated useful  l ives  are as  fol lows:

Leasehold improvements                    5 years

Stands                                                    2 to 10 years

Office equipment                                  3 years

Computer equipment                         3 years

The assets ' res idual  values, useful  l ives  and deprecia�on method are reviewed, and adjusted i f appropriate, at the end of
each repor�ng period. An asset's  carrying amount is  wriSen down immediately to i ts  recoverable amount i f the asset's
carrying amount is  greater than i ts  es�mated recoverable amount. Gains  and losses  on disposals  are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within 'Administra�ve expenses ' in the income
statement.

Goodwill

Goodwi l l  arises  on the acquis i�on of a  bus iness . Goodwi l l  i s  not amor�sed. I nstead, goodwi l l  i s  tested annual ly for
impairment, or more frequently i f events  or changes  in ci rcumstances  indicate that i t might be impaired and is  carried at
cost less  accumulated impairment losses . I mpairment losses  on goodwi l l  are taken to profit or loss  and are not
subsequently reversed.

Intangible assets other than goodwill

I ntangible assets  acquired separately from a bus iness  are recognised at cost and are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses .

I ntangible assets  acquired on bus iness  combina�ons are recognised separately from goodwi l l  at the acquis i�on date
where i t i s  probable that the future economic benefits  that are aSributable to the asset wi l l  flow to the en�ty and the fa ir
value of the asset can be measured rel iably.

Amor�sa�on is  calculated on a straight-l ine bas is , less  i ts  es�mated res idual  value, over i ts  useful  economic l i fe. The
estimated useful  l ives  are as  fol lows:

Software                5 years

Website costs        3 years

Trademarks            5 years

Intel lectual  property     5 -10 years

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and of intangible assets, including right-of-use assets

At each repor�ng period end date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts  of i ts  tangible and intangible assets  to
determine whether there is  any indica�on that those assets  have suffered an impairment loss . I f any such indica�on exists ,
the recoverable amount of the asset i s  es�mated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss , i f any. W here i t i s
not poss ible to es�mate the recoverable amount of an individual  asset, the Group es�mates  the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is  the higher of fa i r value less  costs  to sel l  and value in use. I n assess ing value in use, the es�mated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value us ing a  pre-tax discount rate that reflects  current market
assessments  of the �me value of money and the risks  specific to the asset for which the es�mates  of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

I f the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-genera�ng unit) i s  es�mated to be less  than i ts  carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-genera�ng unit) i s  reduced to i ts  recoverable amount. An impairment loss  i s
recognised immediately in profit or loss , unless  the relevant asset i s  carried at a  revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss  i s  treated as  a  revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss  subsequently reverses , the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) i s  increased to
the revised es�mate of i ts  recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does  not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss  been recognised for the asset (or cash-genera�ng unit)
prior years . A reversal  of an impairment loss  i s  recognised immediately in profit or loss , unless  the relevant asset i s
carried in at a  revalued amount, in which case the reversal  of the impairment loss  i s  treated as  a  revaluation increase.

Inventories

I nventories  are stated at the lower of cost and net real isable value on a 'Weighted Average Cost' bas is . Costs  of purchased
inventory includes  the purchase price, import du�es, other taxes  and del ivery costs  and are determined aVer deduc�ng
rebates  and discounts  received or receivable. Cost comprises  of direct materia ls  and del ivery costs , direct labour, import
du�es and other taxes, an appropriate propor�on of variable and fixed overhead expenditure based on normal  opera�ng
capacity.

Inventory in trans it i s  s tated at the lower of cost and net real isable value.

Net real isable value is  the es�mated sel l ing price in the ordinary course of bus iness  less  the es�mated costs  of comple�on
and the estimated costs  necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial  assets  and l iabi l i�es  are recognised on the statement of financial  pos i�on when the Group has  become party to
the contractual  provis ions  of the instrument and derecognised when i t ceases  to be a party to such provis ions.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables  are ini�al ly measured at their transac�on price. O ther receivables  are ini�al ly measured at fa i r value
plus  any directly aSributable transac�on costs . Receivables  are held to col lect the contractual  cash flows which are solely
payments  of principal  and interest. Therefore, these receivables  are subsequently measured at amor�sed cost us ing the
effective interest rate method. The Group does  not hold any receivables  with a  s igni ficant financing component.

 

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents  comprise cash at bank and other short-term investments  held by the Group with maturi�es  of
less  than three months  from date of acquis i�on. These are highly l iquid investments  that are readi ly conver�ble into
known amounts  of cash and are subject to an ins igni ficant risk of change in fa i r value.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables  are ini�al ly recognised at fa i r value less  transac�on costs  and subsequently measured at



Trade and other payables  are ini�al ly recognised at fa i r value less  transac�on costs  and subsequently measured at
amor�sed cost us ing the effec�ve interest rate method, with a l l  movements  being recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Cost i s  cons idered to approximate fa ir value.

 

DEFERRED CONSIDERATION

Deferred cons idera�on is  ini�al ly recognised at fa i r value and subsequently measured at amor�sed cost. Charges  aris ing
on s ignificant financing component of deferred cons idera�on are recognised in profit or loss  over the l i fe of the deferral
period.

BORROWINGS

I nterest-bearing loans  are ini�al ly measured at fa i r value, net of direct transac�on costs  and are subsequently measured
at amor�sed cost. Borrowings  are class ified between current and non-current l iabi l i�es  dependent on the remaining term
of the loan, a longs ide compl iance with aSached covenants . The effec�ve interest method al locates  interest expense to each
period at the rate which discounts  es�mated future cash payments  through the expected l i fe of the debt to the net carrying
amount on ini�al  recogni�on. F inance charges, including fees  and premiums payable on seSlement or redemp�on, are
recognised in profit or loss  over the term of the loan us ing an effec�ve rate of interest. Arrangement fees  in rela�on to
undrawn faci l i�es  are recognised as  a  prepayment to reflect the right for the Group to borrow in the future on pre-specified
terms which may be favourable. The prepayment is  released to profit or loss  on a systema�c bas is , the �ming of which
depends on the probabi l i ty of further draw down of the faci l i ty. I f further draw down is  not probable, the fee is  recognised
over the period of the faci l i ty to which i t relates , i f i t i s  probable, the prepayment is  held at ful l  amount unti l  draw down.

CLASSIFICATION AND SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial  l iabi l i�es  and equity instruments  are class ified according to the substance of the contractual  arrangements  and
financial  covenants  entered into. An equity instrument is  any contract that evidences  a  res idual  interest in the assets  of the
Group after deducting a l l  i ts  l iabi l i ties .

DERIVATIVES

The Group enters  into foreign exchange forward contracts  and swaps. These deriva�ves  are ini�al ly recognised at fa i r
value on the date a  deriva�ve contract i s  entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fa i r value at each
reporting date. Fair value gains  and losses  are recognised in profi t and loss .

EQUITY

Equity instruments  issued are recorded at fa i r value on ini tia l  recognition net of transaction costs .

Provisions

P rovis ions  are recognised when the company has  a  present (legal  or construc�ve) obl iga�on as  a  result of a  past event, i t
i s  probable the company wi l l  be required to seSle the obl iga�on, and a rel iable es�mate can be made of the amount of the
obl iga�on. The amount recognised as  a  provis ion is  the best es�mate of the cons idera�on required to seSle the present
obl iga�on at the repor�ng date, taking into account the risks  and uncertain�es  surrounding the obl iga�on. I f the �me
value of money is  materia l , provis ions  are discounted us ing a  current pre-tax rate specific to the l iabi l i ty. The increase in
the provis ion resulting from the passage of time is  recognised as  a  finance cost.

W here the Group has  contractual  arrangements  in place that are expected to result in reimbursement of l iabi l i�es  for
which a l iabi l i ty has  been provided for, a  reimbursement asset i s  separately recognised. Such assets  are only recognised
where the Group is  vi rtual ly certain that the reimbursement wi l l  be received. The resul�ng recogni�on within the profit and
loss , i s  that the provis ion is  recognised net of the reimbursement asset.

Impairment of financial assets under IFRS 9

The Group establ ishes  a  provis ion for impairment of financial  assets  when there is  objec�ve evidence that the group wi l l
not be able to col lect a l l  amounts  due according to the original  terms of the receivable.

The probabi l i ty of default and expected amounts  recoverable are assessed us ing reasonable and supportable past and
forward-looking informa�on that i s  avai lable without undue cost or effort. The expected credit loss  i s  a  probabi l i ty-
weighted amount determined from a range of outcomes and takes  into account the time value of money.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables , the s impl ified approach is  used for expected credit losses  as  there is  no s ignificant financing
component. The l i fe�me expected credit losses  are measured by applying an expected loss  rate to the gross  carrying
amount. The expected loss  rate comprises  the risk of a  default occurring and the expected cash flows on default based on
the aging of the receivable. The risk of a  default occurring a lways  takes  into cons idera�on al l  poss ible default events  over
the expected l i fe of those receivables  ("the l i fe�me expected credit losses"). D ifferent provis ion rates  and periods  are used
based on groupings  of historic credit loss  experience by product type, customer type and location.

Impairment of other receivables measured at amortised cost

The measurement of impairment losses  depends on whether the financial  asset i s  'performing', 'underperforming' or 'non-
performing' based on the Group's  assessment of increases  in the credit risk of the financial  asset s ince i ts  ini�al
recogni�on and any events  that have occurred before the year-end which have a detrimental  impact on cash flows. The
financial  asset moves  from 'performing' to 'underperforming' when the increase in credit risk s ince ini�al  recogni�on
becomes s igni ficant.

I n assess ing whether credit risk has  increased s ignificantly, the Group compares  the risk of default at the year- end with
the risk of a  default when the receivable was  original ly recognised us ing reasonable and supportable past and forward-
looking informa�on that i s  avai lable without undue cost. The risk of a  default occurring takes  into cons idera�on default
events  that are poss ible within 12 months  of the year-end ("the 12-month expected credit losses") for 'performing' financial
assets , and al l  poss ible default events  over the expected l i fe of those receivables  ("the l i fe�me expected credit losses") for
'underperforming' financial  assets .

I mpairment losses  and any subsequent reversals  of impairment losses  are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
receivable and are recognised in profi t or loss .

Employee benefits

The costs  of short-term employee benefits  are recognised as  a  l iabi l i ty and an expense unless  those costs  are required to
be recognised as  part of the cost of other assets .

The cost of any unused hol iday en�tlement is  recognised in the period in which the employee's  services  are received.
Termina�on benefits  are recognised immediately as  an expense when the Group is  demonstrably commiSed to terminate
the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefi ts .

 

 

Defined contribution pension plans

O bl iga�ons for contribu�ons to defined contribu�on pension plans  are recognised as  an expense in the Consol idated
Statement of Profi t or Loss  in the periods  which services  are rendered by employees.



Statement of Profi t or Loss  in the periods  which services  are rendered by employees.

Share-based payments

The company issues  equity-seSled share-based incen�ves  to certain employees  in the form of share op�ons and incen�ve
shares  and recharges  the cost of these to the relevant subs idiary company. Equity-seSled share- based payments  are
measured at fa i r value at the date of grant. The fa ir value determined at the grant date is  expensed in the relevant
subs idiary's  financial  s tatements  on a straight-l ine bas is  over the es�mated ves�ng period, based on the es�mate of
shares  that wi l l  eventual ly vest. For share op�ons which vest in instalments  over the ves�ng period, each instalment is
treated as  a  separate share op�on grant, each with a  different ves�ng period. A corresponding adjustment is  made to
equity.

The fa ir value of incen�ve shares  and share op�ons are measured us ing the Monte Carlo model . The expected l i fe used in
the model  has  been adjusted, based on management's  best es�mate, for the effect of non- transferabi l i ty, exercise
restrictions  and behavioural  conditions.

I f the ves�ng condi�ons of incen�ve shares  or share op�ons are modified in a  manner that i s  beneficial  to the employee
and this  modifica�on increases  the fa ir value of the equity instruments  granted (or increases  the number of equity
instruments  granted) measured immediately before and aVer the modifica�on, the en�ty shal l  include the incremental  fa i r
value granted in the measurement of the amount recognised for services  received as  cons idera�on for the equity
instruments  granted. The incremental  fa i r value granted is  the difference between the fa ir value of the modified equity
instrument and that of the original  equity instrument, both es�mated as  at the date of modifica�on. I f the modifica�on
occurs  during the ves�ng period, the incremental  fa i r value granted is  included in the measurement of the amount
recognised for services  received over the period from the modifica�on date un�l  the date when the modified equity
instruments  vest, in addi�on to the amount based on the grant date at fa i r value of the original  equity instruments , which
is  recognised over the remained of the original  ves�ng period. Cancel la�ons or seSlements  are treated as  an accelera�on
of vesting and the amount that would have been recognised over the remaining vesting period is  recognised immediately.

Taxation

The tax expense for the period comprises  current and deferred tax. Tax is  recognised in the income statement, except to the
extent that i t relates  to i tems recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in shareholders ' funds. I n this  case, the
tax is  a lso recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in shareholders ' funds, respectively.

The current income tax charge is  calculated on the bas is  of the tax laws enacted or substan�vely enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries  where the Group operates  and generates  taxable income. Management periodical ly evaluates
posi�ons taken in tax returns  with respect to s i tua�ons in which appl icable tax regula�on is  subject to interpreta�on. I t
establ ishes  provis ions  where appropriate on the bas is  of amounts  expected to be paid to the tax authori ties .

Deferred income tax assets  are recognised only to the extent that i t i s  probable that future taxable profit wi l l  be avai lable
against which the temporary differences  can be u�l ised. Deferred income tax is  recognised on temporary differences
aris ing between the tax bas is  of assets  and l iabi l i�es  and their carrying amounts  in the financial  s tatements . Deferred
income tax is  determined us ing tax rates  (and laws) that have been enacted or substan�vely enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset i s  released or the deferred income tax l iabi l i�es
is  settled.

Deferred income tax assets  and l iabi l i�es  are offset when there is  a  legal ly enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax l iabi l i�es  and when the deferred income tax assets  and l iabi l i�es  relate to income taxes  levied by the
same taxa�on authori ty on ei ther the same taxable en�ty or different taxable en��es where there is  an inten�on to seSle
the balances  on a net bas is .

S ince the Group is  able to control  the �ming of the reversal  of the temporary difference associated with interests  in
subs idiaries , a  deferred tax l iabi l i ty i s  recognised only when i t i s  probable that the temporary difference wi l l  reverse in the
foreseeable future mainly because of a  dividend distribution.

At present, no provis ion is  made for the addi�onal  tax that would be payable i f the subs idiaries  in certain countries
remiSed their profits  because such remiSances  are not probable, as  the Group intends to retain the funds  to finance
organic growth local ly.

Leases

O n commencement of a  contract (or part of a  contract) which gives  the Group the right to use an asset for a  period of �me
in exchange for cons ideration, the Group recognises  a  right-of-use asset and a lease l iabi l i ty unless  the lease qual i fies  as  a
'short-term' lease or a  'low-value' lease.

 

SHORT TERM LEASES

W here the lease term is  twelve months  or less  and the lease does  not contain an op�on to purchase the leased asset, lease
payments  are recognised as  an expense on a straight-l ine bas is  over the lease term.

LEASES OF LOW VALUE ASSETS

For leases  where the underlying asset i s  'low-value', lease payments  are recognised as  an expense on a straight-l ine bas is
over the lease term.

Initial and subsequent measurement of the right-of-use asset

A right-of-use asset i s  recognised at commencement of the lease and ini�al ly measured at the amount of the lease l iabi l i ty,
plus  any incremental  costs  of obtaining the lease and any lease payments  made at or before the leased asset i s  avai lable
for use by the Group.

The right-of-use asset i s  subsequently measured at cost less  accumulated deprecia�on and any accumulated impairment
losses . The depreciation methods appl ied are as  fol lows:

Right-of-use assets  on a straight-l ine bas is  over the shorter of the lease term and the useful  l i fe.

The right-of-use asset i s  adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease l iabi l i ty and lease modifications.

Initial measurement of the lease liability

The lease l iabi l i ty i s  ini�al ly measured at the present value of the lease payments  during the lease term discounted us ing
the interest rate impl ici t in the lease, or the incremental  borrowing rate i f the interest rate impl ici t in the lease cannot be
readi ly determined.

The lease term is  the non-cancel lable period of the lease plus  addi�onal  periods  aris ing from extens ion op�ons that the
Group is  reasonably certain to exercise and termination options  that the Group is  reasonably certain not to exercise.

Subsequent measurement of the lease liability

The lease l iabi l i ty i s  subsequently increased for a  constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease
l iabi l i ty and reduced for lease payments .

I nterest on the lease l iabi l i ty i s  recognised in profit or loss , unless  interest i s  directly aSributable to qual i fying assets , in
which case i t i s  capital ised in accordance with the Group's  pol icy on borrowing costs .

Remeasurement of the lease liability



The lease l iabi l i ty i s  adjusted for changes  aris ing from the original  terms and condi�ons of the lease that change the lease
term, the Group's  assessment of i ts  op�on to purchase the leased asset, the amount expected to be payable under a
res idual  value guarantee and/or changes  in lease payments  due to a  change in an index or rate. The adjustment to the lease
l iabi l i ty i s  recognised when the change takes  effect and is  adjusted against the right-of-use asset, unless  the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset i s  reduced to ni l , when any further adjustment is  recognised in profit or loss . O n
termina�on of leases , the right-of-use asset and lease l iabi l i ty are derecognised, with any resul�ng gain or loss  being
recognised in profi t or loss .

Adjustments  to the lease payments  aris ing from a change in the lease term or the lessee's  assessment of i ts  op�on to
purchase the leased asset are discounted us ing a  revised discount rate. The revised discount rate is  calculated as  the
interest rate impl ici t in the lease for the remainder of the lease term, or i f that rate cannot be readi ly determined, the
lessee's  incremental  borrowing rate at the date of reassessment.

Changes  to the amounts  expected to be payable under a  res idual  value guarantee and changes  to lease payments  due to a
change in an index or rate are recognised when the change takes  effect and are discounted at the original  discount rate
unless  the change is  due to a  change in floa�ng interest rates , when the discount rate is  revised to reflect the changes  in
interest rate.

 

Lease modifications

A lease modifica�on is  a  change that was  not part of the original  terms and condi�ons of the lease and is  accounted for as
a separate lease i f i t increases  the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more addi�onal  assets  with a
commensurate adjustment to the payments  under the lease.

For a  lease modifica�on not accounted for as  a  separate lease, the lease l iabi l i ty i s  adjusted for the revised lease
payments , discounted us ing a  revised discount rate. The revised discount rate used is  the interest rate impl ici t in the lease
for the remainder of the lease term, or i f that rate cannot be readi ly determined, the lessee company's  incremental
borrowing rate at the date of the modification.

W here the lease modifica�on decreases  the scope of the lease, the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset i s  reduced to
reflect the par�al  or ful l  termina�on of the lease. Any difference between the adjustment to the lease l iabi l i ty and the
adjustment to the right-of-use asset i s  recognised in profi t or loss .

For a l l  other lease modifica�ons, the adjustment to the lease l iabi l i ty i s  recognised as  an adjustment to the right-of-use
asset.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised when declared and authorised during the financial  year and no longer at the discre�on of the
Group.

3              JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

I n the appl ica�on of the Group's  accoun�ng pol icies , the Directors  are required to make judgements , es�mates  and
assump�ons about the carrying amount of assets  and l iabi l i�es , and the disclosure of con�ngent assets  and l iabi l i�es ,
that are not readi ly apparent from other sources. The es�mates  and associated assump�ons are based on historical
experience and other factors  that are cons idered to be relevant. Actual  results  may differ from these es�mates, and
subsequent changes  are accounted for when such information becomes avai lable.

Judgements

I n the course of preparing the financial  s tatements , judgements  have been made in the process  of applying the accoun�ng
pol icies  that have had a s ignificant effect in the amounts  recognised in the financial  s tatements . The fol lowing are the
areas  requiring the use of judgements  that may s igni ficantly impact the financial  s tatements .

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES

I mpairment provis ions  for trade receivables  are recognised based on the s impl ified approach, within I F RS 9, us ing a
provis ion matrix in the determina�on of the l i fe�me expected credit losses . During this  process  the probabi l i ty of non-
payment of the trade receivables  is  assessed. This  probabi l i ty i s  then mul�pl ied by the amount of the expected loss  aris ing
from default to determine the l i fe�me expected credit loss  for the trade receivables . For trade receivables , which are
reported net, such provis ions  are recorded in a  separate provis ion account with the loss  being recognised within cost of
sales  in the statement of comprehensive income. O n confirma�on that the trade receivable wi l l  not be col lectable, the
gross  carrying value of the asset i s  wri tten off against the associated provis ion.

REIMBURSEMENT ASSETS

Reimbursement assets  are recognised when i t i s  determined to be virtual ly certain that they wi l l  be recovered, in
accordance with I AS 37. Judgment is  required in making this  determina�on prior to the receipt of cash flows, the Group
considers  strength and val idi ty of contractual  arrangement in place as  wel l  as  the resources  of the counterparty for any
reimbursement. W here the contractual  arrangements  are cons idered secure, the counterparty has  sufficient resources  and
there is  no other plaus ible reason for the asset not to be recovered, the reimbursement is  recognised.

Estimates

The es�mates  and underlying assump�ons are reviewed on an ongoing bas is . Revis ions  to accoun�ng es�mates  are
recognised in the period in which the es�mate is  revised where the revis ion affects  only that period, or in the period of the
revis ion and future periods  where the revis ion affects  both current and future periods.

Estimates  include:

RETURNS

Some customers  are able to return unsold inventory. At the period end, the Group makes  a  provis ion for returns  based on
historical  averages, or actual  values  that have been agreed with the customer.

MEASUREMENT OF INVENTORY PROVISION

The Group's  inventory provis ion methodology is  made up of a  net real isable value (NRV) component and a s low-moving
component. The s low-moving component includes  a  provis ion for inventory that has  recently been launched and therefore
has  l imited sales  history and also for more mature inventory, which is  assessed based on i ts  sales  cover, which gives  rise
to the key source of estimation uncertainty.

The NRV provis ion is  determined by assess ing the latest sales  price of a  Stock Keeping Unit ("S KU"), less  the cost of sel l ing
it, against the cost of purchas ing i t. There is  judgment appl ied in assess ing the costs  included in sel l ing each S KU. The
Group determines  cost to sel l  on an average bas is  across  a l l  S KUs. The cost to sel l  includes  the incremental  costs  of
sel l ing, such as  commiss ions, as  wel l  as  non- incremental  sel l ing costs  including expected marke�ng costs  and expected
costs  to hold the inventory unti l  the anticipated time of sale.

I nventory cons ists  of a  large number of S KUs, with a  range of values. The s low-moving inventory provis ion is  calculated for
each S KU, based on sales  in a  12 month period, to calculate the number of months  cover held at the balance sheet date for
each SKU held in inventory.

No provis ion is  appl ied to S KUs where inventory cover is  12 months  or less . W here a S KU has  more than 12 months
inventory cover a  provis ion of 50% is  appl ied to inventory expected to sel l  in months  13-24 and



inventory cover a  provis ion of 50% is  appl ied to inventory expected to sel l  in months  13-24 and

100% to inventory expected to sel l  thereafter. Inventory cover is  determined by dividing the level  of inventory on hand at the
balance sheet date by sales  data for a  12 month period including a  period aVer the balance sheet date, at a  S KU by S KU
level .

As  recent sales  data does  not accurately reflect the expected future sales  of products  developed in the 12 months  prior to
the balance sheet date on an individual  bas is , historic sales  performance of a l l  new products  launched over the preceding
three years  has  been appl ied. Therefore, the Group has  determined the historic rate of sale of newly developed products
and makes  a  further s low moving provis ion of 25% of the value of new S KUs launched in the 12 month period up to the
reporting date.

The total  provis ion at 29 February 2024 is  £14.3m (2023: £33.8m). The calcula�on of the inventory provis ion as  at 29
February 2024 is  based on a number of assump�ons. These are set out below, a longs ide a sens i�vity to those assump�ons
considered to be most subjective by management.

•              P rovis ion rate of 50%. An increase or decrease in the provis ion rate of 50% on inventory with inventory cover of
greater than 24 months  but less  than 36 months  to the minimum of 0% or maximum of 100% poss ible would increase or
decrease the inventory provis ion by £1.5m respectively.

•              Newly developed product provis ion. An increase or decrease in the provis ion appl ied to products  developed in the
12 months  prior to the reporting date by 5% would increase or decrease the overal l  provis ion by £0.5m.

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL

The Group determines  whether goodwi l l  i s  impaired when indicators  of impairment are iden�fied or in the annual
assessment of impairment. The annual  assessment requires  an es�mate of the value in use of the CGUs to which the assets
are a l located, which is  by bus iness  unit. A CGU for goodwi l l  i s  deemed to be an individual  enti ty, as  per Note 16.

Es�ma�ng the value in use requires  the Group to make an es�mate of the expected future cash flows from each bus iness
unit and discount these to their net present value at a  discount rate. The resul�ng calcula�on is  sens i�ve to the
assumptions  in respect of future cash flows and the discount rate appl ied.

Forecas�ng expected cash flows and selec�ng an appropriate discount rate inherently requires  es�ma�on. A sens i�vity
analys is  has  been performed over the es�mates  (see Note 16). The resul�ng calcula�on is  sens i�ve to the assump�ons in
respect of future cash flows and the discount rate appl ied. The Directors  cons ider that the key assump�ons made within
the cash flow forecasts  include sales  levels . The Directors  cons ider that the assump�ons made represent their best
es�mate of the future cash flows generated by the CGUs, and that the discount rate used is  appropriate given the risks
associated with the speci fic cash flows.

MEASUREMENT, USEFUL LIVES AND IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The annual  deprecia�on charge for property, plant and equipment is  sens i�ve to changes  in the es�mated useful  economic
l ives  and res idual  values  of the assets . The useful  economic l ives  and res idual  values  are reassessed annual ly. They are
amended when necessary to reflect current es�mates, based on technological  advancement, future investments , economic
u�l isa�on and the phys ical  condi�on of the assets . I n the event of impairment, an es�mate of the asset's  recoverable
amount is  made. The value of the assets  are tested whenever there are indications  of impairment.

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group determines  whether property, plant and equipment, predominantly related to stands  used in stores  to present
the Group's  inventory for sale, are impaired or require reversal  of impairment when indicators  of impairments  or reversal
of impairment exist or based on the annual  impairment assessment. The annual  assessment requires  an es�mate of the
value in use of the CGUs to which the assets  are a l located, which is  at a  customer level .

Es�ma�ng the value in use requires  the Group to make an es�mate of the expected future cash flows from each customer
and discount these to their net present value at a  discount rate. The resul�ng calcula�on is  sens i�ve to the assump�ons in
respect of future cash flows and the discount rate appl ied.

Forecas�ng expected cash flows and selec�ng an appropriate discount rate inherently requires  es�ma�on. A sens i�vity
analys is  has  been performed over the es�mates  (see Note 16). The resul�ng calcula�on is  sens i�ve to the assump�ons in
respect of future cash flows and the discount rate appl ied. The Directors  cons ider that the key assump�ons made within
the cash flow forecasts  include sales  levels . The Directors  cons ider that the assump�ons made represent their best
es�mate of the future cash flows generated by the CGUs, and that the discount rate used is  appropriate given the risks
associated with the speci fic cash flows.

MEASUREMENT OF LEGAL PROVISIONS

The Group recognises  a  provis ion when i t has  a  present l iabi l i ty for a  past event, in accordance with IAS 37.

W ith regard to legal  cla ims, management cons ider the status  of any cla ims and al l  legal  advice avai lable to determine that
a l iabi l i ty exists . W here no agreement has  been reached for the value of a  cla im with the cla imant, es�ma�on is  required
in assess ing the quantum of the l iabi l i ty. Es�ma�ng the l iabi l i ty a lso involves  cons idera�on of a l l  avai lable advice from
counsel , the legal  s tage of the cla im, any offers  for seSlement which have been made and whether or not they have been
accepted. The strength of the cla ims and the defence is  a lso cons idered. Management cons ider that the assessment made in
respect of legal  cla ims provided for at the Balance Sheet date represents  their best poss ible es�mate of the expected
l iabi l i ty us ing the avai lable information.

4              CORRECTION OF PRIOR YEAR ERRORS

The Directors  have iden�fied a number of balances  which were previous ly class ified as  trade and other payables  which
should have been offset against the trade receivables  and other receivables . These balances  are deduc�ons from revenue,
rela�ng to shortages  and damages, that are payable to the customer from whom the revenue was recognised. This
adjustment is  solely a  balance sheet reclass ifica�on, and therefore only has  an impact on the Statement of F inancial
Pos i�on. The total  of £1,977,000 has  been reclass ified as  at 28 February 2023, resul�ng in a  decrease to both trade and
other receivables  and trade and other payables .

Impact on the Statement of Financial Position

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

 

 
Adjustments

£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Trade and other receivables 52,708 (1,977) 50,731

Total current assets 115,437 1,977 113,460

Trade and other payables (82,707) 1,977 (80,730

Total current liabilities (134,486) - (132,509

Net assets/(liabilities) (13,135) - (13,135

Total equity (13,135) - (13,135

There was no materia l  impact on the financial  pos ition at 28 February 2022 hence no third balance sheet has  been
presented as  a  primary statement.

5              ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The Group uses  a  number of Alterna�ve Performance Measures  ("AP Ms") in addi�on to those measures  reported in



The Group uses  a  number of Alterna�ve Performance Measures  ("AP Ms") in addi�on to those measures  reported in
accordance with I F RS. Such AP Ms are not defined terms under I F RS and are not intended to be a subs�tute for any I F RS
measure. The Directors  bel ieve that the AP Ms are important when assess ing the underlying financial  and opera�ng
performance of the Group.

For the financial  period ended 29 February 2024, the Group has  used the term 'adjusted i tems' as  opposed to 'excep�onal
i tems' as  used in previous  financial  periods. The Group exercises  judgement in assess ing whether i tems should be
class ified as  adjusted i tems. This  assessment covers  the nature of the i tem, cause of occurrence and scale of impact of that
i tem on the reported performance.

The AP Ms are used internal ly in the management of the Group's  bus iness  performance, budge�ng and forecas�ng, and for
determining Execu�ve Directors ' remunera�on and that of other management throughout the bus iness . The AP Ms are a lso
presented external ly to meet investors ' requirements  for further clari ty and transparency of the Group's  financial
performance. W here i tems of profits  or costs  are being excluded in an AP M, these are included elsewhere in our reported
financial  information as  they represent actual  income or costs  of the Group.

The Group's  Alternative Performance Measures  are set out below.

 

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EB I TDA is  defined as  O pera�ng P rofit adjusted for deprecia�on and amor�sa�on, impairments  and reversals  of
impairment, profi ts  and losses  on the disposal  of assets , share based charges  and releases  and adjusting i tems.

Adjusted EBIT

Adjusted EBIT is  calculated as  profi t/(loss) before tax, interest, share-based payment charges  and adjusting i tems.

Adjusted profit/(loss) before tax

Adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is  calculated as  profit/(loss) before tax, share-based payment charges  and adjus�ng
items.

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Operating profit/(loss) 4,335 (30,581

Amortisation of intangible assets 897 1,933

Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles - 3,388

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 4,208 8,369

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 75 2,177

(Profit)/Loss of disposal of asset (6) 62

Share-based payment expenses 2,372 303

Operating adjusting items:

Acquisition costs - 262

Restructuring costs 1,439 1,310

Provision or settlement of legal cases (1,644) 1,474

Adjusting legal and professional fees 2,917 3,528

Additional audit fees 391 300

Adjusting Settlement Income (2,414) -

Adjusted EBITDA 12,570 (7,475

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments (5,174) (15,929

Adjusted EBIT 7,396 (23,404

Net finance (income)/costs (7,107) 3,293

Financing adjusting items:

Adjusting gain on amendment of deferred consideration (10,243) -

Adjusted Profit/(loss) before taxation 4,260 (26,697)

 

Operating adjusting items

As announced on 23 September 2022, the Company's  previous  auditor wrote to the Board on 21 September 2022 to iden�fy
a number of serious  concerns  that had arisen during the course of i ts  work on the audit of the Company's  accounts  for the
year ended 28 February 2022. The Board appointed independent external  advisors  to undertake an independent
inves�ga�on, and the Company appointed Macfarlanes  (lawyers), RosenblaS (lawyers) and F R A (forens ic accountants) on
23 September 2022, with the inves�ga�on concluding on 13 January 2023. As  a  result of i ssues  iden�fied through this
process , and the corresponding legal  and profess ional  advice required to ensure the rel is�ng of the Group's  ordinary
shares  on AI M market on 28 June 2023, the Company incurred excep�onal  costs  of £1.4m. I n addi�on, these concerns
raised led to addi�onal  audit fees  to be incurred above the level  usual ly required for the Group's  annual  statutory audit at
a further cost of £0.4m.

As a  result of i ssues  iden�fied through this  process , the Company announced legal  proceedings  against the Company's  co-
founder and former C EO, Adam Minto, on 20 June 2023 al leging that the director breached his  fiduciary, s tatutory,
contractual  and/or tor�ous du�es to the Company. A seSlement was  reached on 2 February 2024, for £2.9m to be paid
annual ly over s ix equal  instalments  between 28 March 2024 and 28 March 2029, the discounted value of the adjus�ng
seSlement income to the company was £2.4m at the balance sheet date. I ncluded within adjus�ng legal  fees  are £658k of
cost associated with legal  and profess ional  support associated with this  process .

O n the 21 July 2023 the Financial  Conduct Authori ty ('FC A') no�fied the Company that i t had commenced an inves�ga�on
into poten�al  breaches  of the Market Abuse Regula�on, in rela�on to maSers  rela�ng to the period from July 2021 to
September 2022. In engaging with the FCA, the Company has  incurred legal  and profess ional  costs  of £0.2m.

During the period a major shareholder of the Group, boohoo Group P lc ("boohoo"), requis i�oned a General  Mee�ng with
certain resolu�ons to be voted upon, the detai ls  of which are avai lable on the Group's  website. O n 18 July 2023, prior to
the General  Mee�ng taking place, the Group announced a seSlement agreement with boohoo. The terms of the seSlement
included the res igna�on of directors  Bob Holt and Derek Zissman and the appointment of Al is ta ir McGeorge, Nei l  CaSo,
Rachel  Horsefield and Peter Hal let. I ncluded within adjus�ng legal  and profess ional  fees  are £694k of cost associated with
legal  and profess ional  support associated with this  process .

During the financial  year the Group incurred adjus�ng restructuring and redundancy costs  of £1.4m. This  included
El izabeth Lake who stood down as  C FO  and as  a  Director of the P lc Board on 31 December 2023. I n addi�on, there was a
restructuring of the Group's  senior management team and the Company's  warehouse faci l i�es , which included staff
redundancies .



redundancies .

O n 29 January 2024 the Company received a pre-ac�on leSer from Chrysal is , s ta�ng that i t bel ieves  that i t has  certain
poten�al  cla ims against the Company in rela�on to i ts  purchase of Revolu�on Beauty shares  in July 2021 and the sale of
those shares  in late 2022. Chrysal is  has  not commenced formal  legal  proceedings, and the Company contests  the
al legations  and has  been engaging with Chrysal is 's  advisers , resulting in legal  and profess ional  fees  of £0.1m.

As noted in the prior year's  financial  s tatements , the Group made a provis ion in respect of a  legal  cla im in respect of
copyright infringements  on music rights  in the US. Post year end, the Group reached a seSlement in respect of this  legal
cla im, which has  been treated as  an adjus�ng event for the balance sheet date, and the Group has  recognised the ful l
reimbursement asset from the indemnifying par�es  due to the certainty of seSlement and resulted in a  financial  gain of
£1.6m through the profi t and loss .

Revolu�on Beauty Holdings  acquired Revolu�on Beauty Labs  (Formerly Medichem Ltd) which was previous ly 100% owned
and control led by a  previous  director and shareholder of Revolu�on Beauty Group P lc, with a  deferred cons idera�on owed.
During the financial  year there were two separate deeds of amendments  to the deferred cons idera�on, as  included in
further detai l  within note 24, which resulted in a  total  gain of £10.2m which has  been recognised in the profit or loss  as
finance income at the date of the modification.

Prior period operating adjusting items

As announced on 23 September 2022, the Company's  auditor wrote to the Board on 21 September 2022 to iden�fy a  number
of serious  concerns  that had arisen during the course of i ts  work on the audit of the Company's  accounts  for the year ended
28 February 2022.

The Board appointed independent external  advisors  to undertake an independent inves�ga�on, and the Company
appointed Macfarlanes  (lawyers), RosenblaS (lawyers) and F R A (forens ic accountants) on 23 September 2022. As  a  result
of i ssue iden�fied through this  process , excep�onal  legal  and profess ional  fees  were incurred at a  cost of £3.5m (which
includes  £0.4m paid on behalf of two Directors). I n addi�on, these concerns  raised led to adjus�ng audit fees  to be
incurred above the level  usual ly required for the Group's  annual  statutory audit at a  further cost of £0.3m.

Further to the inves�ga�on outcomes a reorganisa�on of the Groups opera�ons and processes , included the restructure of
senior management pos i�ons. This  reorganisa�on resulted in the Group incurring adjus�ng redundancy and profess ional
cost of £1.3m.

I n addi�on, the Group incurred £262k in further profess ional  fees  and inventory costs  in connec�on with the acquis i�ons
completed during 2022 which are cons idered to be outs ide the normal  course of bus iness:

•              the acquis i tion of Medichem Manufacturing Ltd

•              the purchase of asset from BH Cosmetics  Inc.

The Group incurred legal  and profess ional  costs  of £0.1m and £0.2m respec�vely, in the process  of concluding the above-
mentioned acquis i tions, which are cons idered to be transaction related costs  outs ide the normal  course of bus iness .

During the current and prior year, the Group made provis ion of £1.0m in respect of a  legal  cla im in respect of copyright
infringement on music rights  in the US. This  amount had not been seSled by the balance sheet date and is  included within
provis ions. During the year, the Group reached a legal  settlement of £0.3m related to a  one-off trademark dispute.

 

6              SEGMENTAL REPORTING

I F RS 8 O pera�ng Segments  requires  that opera�ng segments  be iden�fied on the bas is  of internal  repor�ng and decis ion-
making. The Group iden�fies opera�ng segments  based on internal  management repor�ng that i s  regularly reported to and
reviewed by the Board of directors , which is  iden�fied as  the chief opera�ng decis ion maker. The Groups sel ls  i ts  products
through several  geographic areas  as  set out below and through various  revenue channels . Al l  of these channels  are
managed through one central  team and structure, inventory is  a lso purchased central ly. Therefore, management
information is  reported as  one operating segment, being revenue from sales  of products  and inventory purchas ing.

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows:

Revenue analysed by class of business
Digital 42,347 51,008

Store groups 148,940 136,834

191,287 187,842

Revenue analysed by geographical market
UK 62,514 66,974

United States of America 44,207 51,961

Rest of World 84,566 68,907

191,287 187,842

7              REVENUE

 
The Group generated revenue from no individual  customer that accounted for greater than 10% of total  revenue in F Y24
(F Y23: O ne). Total  revenue from that one customer for 2023 was £19.6m. The performance obl iga�ons are seSled upon
del ivery of the products  to the specified customer loca�on or upon col lec�on by the customer. Payment is  typical ly due
within 30 to 90 days  from del ivery for onl ine retai lers  and store groups .

 

 

8              EMPLOYEES

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

An analysis of the Group's staff costs is as follows:

Wages and salaries 19,180 17,774

Social security costs 2,003 2,292

Pension costs - defined contribution 339 323

Equity-settled share-based payments 2,372 303

Total employee benefit expense 23,894 20,692

 



 
The Group operates  a  defined contribu�on pension scheme for a l l  qual i fying employees. The assets  of the scheme are
separately held from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. At the repor�ng date, contribu�ons
total l ing £34k (2023: £4k) were payable to the fund and are included within other creditors .

 
Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Average number of staff
Administration 261 279

Cost of sales 86 137

347 416

 

 

 

9              DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

An analysis of the Group's directors' remuneration costs is as follows:

Directors' remuneration excluding pension

 
4,565

 
1,659

 

Remuneration disclosed above includes  the fol lowing amounts  paid to the highest paid director:

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Directors' remuneration 2,168 468

 

10           OPERATING PROFIT

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

The operating profit/(loss) is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses 264 (321

Amortisation of intangible assets 897 1,933

Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles - 3,388

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment - owned 2,700 6,548

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment - right-of-use assets 1,508 1,821

Impairment of property, plant and equipment - owned 75 1,811

Cost of inventory recognised as an expense 123,131 112,704

Inventory provision written back (17,914) (5,898

Share-based payment charge 2,372 303

Lease charges:

- short-term leases 60 89

- low-value leases 12 18

 

11           AUDITORS REMUNERATION

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates:

Audit of the financial statements 490 1,367

Subsidiary entity audit fees 120 150

610 1,517

 

 

 

 

 

12           FINANCE INCOME

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Interest receivable 3 1

Gain on amendment of deferred consideration 10,243 -

10,246 1

 
The gain on amendment of deferred cons idera�on relates  to the deed of amendments  in rela�on to the acquis i�on of



The gain on amendment of deferred cons idera�on relates  to the deed of amendments  in rela�on to the acquis i�on of
Medichem, included in note 24.

13           FINANCE COSTS

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 2,764 1,379

Interest on lease liabilities 49 146

Other interest 326 1,769

3,139 3,294

 

14           INCOME TAX CREDIT/EXPENSE

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Current tax:

UK corporation tax on profits for the current period - -

Adjustments in respect of prior periods - 7

- 7

Foreign current tax on profits for the current period 14 (120

Adjustments in respect of prior periods 1,122 (72

Total current tax 1,136 (185

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences (486) (180

Previously unrecognised tax loss, tax credit or timing difference 2 137

Total deferred tax (484) (43

Total income tax charge/(credit) 743 (228

 
Factors affecting tax charge for the year

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Profit/(Loss) before taxation 11,443 (33,874

Expected tax credit based on the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 24.49%
(2023: 19%)

 
2,802

 
(6,457

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit (2,176) 184

Fixed Asset Differences 9 (200

Adjustment in respect of prior years 1,122 (64

Effect of overseas tax rates (47) (5

Deferred tax adjustments in respect of prior years 1 137

Deferred tax assets not recognised (978) 6,219

Effect of change in deferred tax rate 10 (42

Total income tax charge/(credit) 743 (228

 
The Group has  tax losses  total l ing £95,001k (2023: £54,773k) and other temporary differences  of £21,720k (2023:
£24,182k) for which no deferred tax asset has  been recognised due to uncertainty over future recoverabi l i ty.

15           EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Group reports  bas ic and di luted earnings  per common share. Bas ic earnings  per share is  calculated by dividing the
profit aSributable to ordinary shareholders  of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period.

Di luted earnings  per share is  determined by adjus�ng the profit aSributable to common shareholders  by the weighted
average number of common shares  outstanding, taking into account the effects  of a l l  poten�al  di lu�ve common shares ,
including options.

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders: 10,700 (33,646)

Weighted average number of shares ('000) 315,003 309,737

Basic earnings per share (p) 3.4 (10.9)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to the owners of the company 10,700 (33,646

Weighted average number of shares ('000) 315,003 309,737

Dilutive effect of share options and warrants 19,724 -

Weighted average number of diluted shares ('000) 334,727 309,737

Diluted earnings per share (p) 3.2 (10.9)

 
P ursuant to I AS 33, op�ons whose exercise price is  higher than the average price of the Company's  shares  in the year were
not taken into account in determining the effect of di lu�ve instruments . The calcula�on of di luted earnings  per share does
not assume convers ion, exercise, or other issue of poten�al  ordinary shares  that would have an an�di lu�ve effect on
earnings  per share.

 

16           INTANGIBLE ASSETS



 
Goodwill

£'000

 
Software

£'000

 
Website costs

£'000

 
Trademarks

£'000

Intellectual
property

£'000

Acquired
rights
£'000

 
Total

£'000

Cost:

As at 1 March 2022 17,803 2,061 1,757 471 3,316 1,163 26,571

Additions - 679 - 113 226 - 1,018

Disposals - (466) - (37) (591) - (1,095)

Exchange adjustments 450 (5) - - (134) - 311

As at 28 February 2023 18,253 2,269 1,757 547 2,817 1,163 26,806

Additions - 100 - 170 - - 270

Disposals - (254) - (114) (159) - (527)

Exchange adjustments (139) - - (10) - (149)

As at 29 February 2024 18,114 2,114 1,757 603 2,648 1,163 26,400

Amortisation and impairment:

As at 1 March 2022 13,000 1,025 1, 463 171 543 532 16,734

Amortisation charge for the
period

 
-

 
632

 
294

 
101

 
406

 
500

 
1,933

Impairment charge 2,786 245 - - 226 131 3,388

Disposals - (404) - (37) (591) - (1,032)

Exchange adjustments - 1 - 2 52 - 55

As at 28 February 2023 15,786 1,499 1,757 237 636 1,163 21,078

Amortisation charge for the
year

 
-

 
522

 
-

 
119

 
256

 
-

 
897

Impairment charge - - - - - - -

Disposals - (254) - (86) (159) - (499)

Exchange adjustments - - - - (10) - (10)

As at 29 February 2024 15,786 1,766 1,757 270 723 1,163 21,466

Carrying amount:

As at 28 February 2023 2,467 770 - 310 2,181 - 5,728

As at 29 February 2024 2,328 348 - 333 1,925 - 4,934
 
Amor�sa�on and impairment of intangible assets  i s  recognised within administra�ve expenses  in the Statement of
Comprehensive I ncome. I ntangible assets  are located across  the Groups ' geographical  market as  fol lows: UK  £2,606k
(2023: £2,942k), ROW £Ni l  (2023: £Ni l ), US £2,328k (2023: £2,786k).

Impairment testing

Goodwi l l  i s  tested for impairment at each reporting date and a review undertaken for indicators  of impairment.

For the purposes  of impairment tes�ng the Group ass igns  goodwi l l  to cash genera�ng units  (CGUs). Goodwi l l  has  been
ass igned to the fol lowing two CGUs Revolu�on Beauty I nc of £2,328k (2023: £2,333k) and Revolu�on Labs  Ltd (formerly
Medichem Ltd) of £Ni l  (2023: £2,786k).

I n tes�ng the goodwi l l  of each CGU, the Group aggregates  a l l  iden�fiable assets , including al l  other intangible asset and
property, plant and equipment. The assets  of the CGU are compared to the value in use of the CGU in order to assess  the
recoverable amount. The value in use is  calculated by discoun�ng future cashflows forecast to be generated from the CGU
over a  five year period us ing the Group's  pre-tax weighted average cost of capital  (WACC), which is  disclosed in note 17.

At 28 February 2023, the recoverable amount of the Revolu�on Labs  Ltd CGU was determined to be below the carrying
amount, an impairment of £2.8m was recognised to impair the ful l  goodwi l l  balance. The most s ignificant factors  driving
the impairment charges  were the reduc�on in forecast produc�on and sales  of inventory produced by Revolu�on Labs  Ltd,
which were determined based on the latest financial  information avai lable and management forecasts .

17           PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 
Leasehold

improvements
£'000

 

 
Stands
£'000

Office and
Computer
equipment

£'000

 

 
Total

£'000

Cost:

As at 1 March 2022 495 35,114 499 36,108

Additions 1 7,643 207 7,851

Disposals - (7,661) (184) (7,845)

Exchange adjustments - 66 27 93

As at 28 February 2023 496 35,162 549 36,207

Additions 101 4,099 50 4,249

Disposals (416) (3,608) (48) (4,072)

Exchange adjustments - (582) (1) (583)

As at 29 February 2024 181 35,070 550 35,801

Depreciation and impairment:

As at 1 March 2022 345 27,317 231 27,893

Charge for the year 103 6,251 194 6,548

Impairment charge 15 1,766 30 1,811

Disposals - (7,661) (184) (7,845)

Exchange adjustments - (130) 2 (128)

As at 28 February 2023 463 27,543 273 28,279

Charge for the year 29 2,509 162 2,700

Impairment charge - 993 - 993

Impairment Reversal - (918) - (918)

Disposals (416) (3,608) (46) (4,070)



Disposals (416) (3,608) (46) (4,070)

Exchange adjustments - (426) - (426)

As at 29 February 2024 76 26,093 389 26,558

Carrying amount:

As at 28 February 2023 33 7,619 276 7,928

As at 29 February 2024 105 8,975 161 9,241
 
Deprecia�on and impairment of property, plant and equipment is  recognised within administra�ve expenses  in the
Statement of Comprehensive I ncome. P roperty, plant and equipment is  located across  the Group's  geographical  market as
fol lows: UK £3,729k (2023: £3,380k), ROW £3,487k, (2023: £1,720k), US £2,025k (2023: £2,827k).

Impairment testing

The Group determines  whether these assets  are impaired when indicators  of impairment exist or at each repor�ng date. For
impairment tes�ng purposes, s tand assets  are grouped by customer into CGUs. I mpairment tes�ng is  carried out by
comparing the carrying value of the assets  held at a  CGU with the recoverable amount of the CGU.

The recoverable amount of a  CGU is  the higher of value in use or fa i r value less  cost of disposal . The Group determines  the
recoverable amount with reference to i ts  value in use. Value in use is  assessed by forecas�ng the cashflow generated from
a CGU over the remaining useful  l i fe of the asset of the CGU. A pre-tax Weighted Average Cost of Capital  (WAC C) derived
from external ly benchmarked data is  then used to discount the cashflows to present value. The WAC C appl ied for 2024 was
27% (2023: 26%), this  i s  cons idered a key assump�on for the impairment review and a movement of 2% in the WAC C rate
used would result in a  £0.1m change to the impairment.

During the year, an impairment of stand assets  of £993k (2023: £1,766k) was  recognised. This  impairment was  driven by
certain customers  not reaching forecasted sales  levels  and related to two UK  customers  and one US customer (2023: eight
UK  customer and one US customers) where the value in use was assessed to be below the carrying value. O ne UK  customer
accounted for the majori ty of the impairment at £851k.

During the year, an impairment reversal  of stand assets  of £917k (2023: £ni l ) was  recognised through administra�ve
expenses. This  impairment reversal  related to one customer, which returned to profitabi l i ty to a  sufficient extent that the
value in use of the CGU based upon the forecast cashflow was in excess  of the historical  cost of i ts  assets , i f no impairment
had been recognised. Management therefore determined that the impairment should be reversed, the value of the CGU aVer
the reversal  represents  the historical  cost of the assets , less  accumulated deprecia�on, as  i f no impairment had been
historical ly recognised.

As  disclosed in Note 16, management determined during the year that the recoverable amount of Medichem CGU was below
its  carrying value. This  has  resulted in an impairment of property, plant and equipment of £ni l  (2023: £171k).

I mpairment reviews are sens i�ve to changes  in key assump�ons. Management have determined that the key assump�on
used in the cashflow forecast i s  the gross  profit for each customer. As  such, management have prepared sens i�vity
analys is  on the gross  profit for each customer and calculated that a  reduc�on in performance in l ine with the severe but
plaus ible scenario set out in note 1 would result in an additional  impairment of £0.1m.

18           LEASES

Land and
Buildings

£'000

Plant and
machinery

£'000

 
Other
£'000

 
Total

£'000

Right-of-use assets

As at 1 March 2022 3,942 153 55 4,150

Additions 328 - - 328

Disposals - - - -

Depreciation (1,736) (74) (11) (1,821)

Impairment charge (366) - - (366)

Exchange Adjustment 19 - - 19

As at 28 February 2023 2,187 79 44 2,310

Additions 3,529 490 - 4,019

Disposals (555) - - (555)

Depreciation (1,472) (25) (11) (1,508)

Impairment charge - - - -

Exchange Adjustment (89) - - (89)

As at 29 February 2024 3,600 544 33 4,177

Lease liabilities

As at 1 March 2022 4,433 159 55 4,647

Additions 328 - - 328

Disposals - - - -

Interest expense related to lease liabilities 140 4 2 146

Repayment of lease liabilities (including interest)  
(2,040)

 
(72)

 
(15)

 
(2,127)

Exchange Adjustment 20 - - 20

As at 28 February 2023 2,881 91 42 3,014

Additions 3,529 490 - 4,019

Disposals (576) - - (576)

Interest expense related to lease liabilities 42 6 1 49

Repayment of lease liabilities (including interest)  
(1,982)

 
(125)

 
(11)

 
(2,118)

Exchange Adjustment (13) - - (13)

As at 29 February 2024 3,881 462 32 4,375

Current 734 148 12 894
Non-current 3,147 314 20 3,481
 

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Maturity analysis:



Maturity analysis:
Within 1 year 1,202 2,005

Between 1 and 5 years 4,012 1,105

Over 5 years - -

 
Less unearned interest

5,214 3,110

(839) (96

Lease liability 4,375 3,014

Analysed as:
Non-current 894 954

Current 3,481 2,060

4,375 3,014

 
The carrying value of right-of-use assets  in respect of the above lease l iabi l i�es  is  £4,177k (2023: £2,310k). Lease assets
are located across  the Group's  geographical  market as  fol lows: UK  £4,000k (2023: £2,040k), ROW  £Ni l  (2022: £Ni l ), US
£177k (2023: £270k).

The Group's  lease arrangements  are in rela�on to property leases, plant and office equipment. The leases  have termina�on
dates  ranging from 2023 to 2029.

The rates  of interest impl ici t in the Group's  lease arrangements  are not readi ly determinable and management have
determined that the incremental  borrowing rate to be appl ied in calcula�ng the lease l iabi l i ty i s  9.0%. The fa ir value of the
Group's  lease obl igations  is  approximately equal  to their carrying amount.

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Effects of leases on financial performance:

Depreciation charge on right-of-use assets included within 'administrative expenses'  
1,508

 
1,821

Interest expense on lease liabilities included within 'finance costs' 49 146

Expense relating to short-term leases included within 'administrative expenses' 60 89

Expense relating to low-value leases included within 'administrative expenses' 12 18

1,629 2,074

Effects of leases on cash flows:
Total cash outflow for right-of-use asset leases

 
(2,118)

 
(2,127)

 
The Group has  leases  in respect of printers  which have been class ified as  low value in accordance with I F RS 16. I n the year,
the Group had three property leases  which have a term of 12 months  or less  where i t has  elected to treat the lease as  a
short-term lease in accordance with I F RS 16. The Group is  commiSed to minimum lease payments  in respect of these leases
as  fol lows:

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Short-term lease commitment 28 5

Low-value lease commitment 1 1

29 6

 
19           INVENTORIES

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Finished goods and goods for resale 40,775 47,606

 
The total  cost of inventories  recognised as  an expense in cost of sale in the year was  £123,131k (2023: £111,861k). For
further detai ls  on inventory valua�on, key assump�ons and sens i�vi�es, see Note 3. Total  inventory wriSen back during
the year was  £17,914k (2023: £5,986k).

20           TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 
Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Restated

Current

Trade receivables 37,733 48,738

Other receivables 2,412 452

Prepayments 2,594 1,541

42,739 50,731

Non-Current
 

1,931
 

-Other receivables

1,931 -

 
Al l  of the trade receivables  were non-interest bearing and receivable under normal  commercial  terms. The fa ir value of the
Group's  trade and other receivables  is  the same as  their book value stated above. The Group has  assessed the credit risk of
i ts  financial  assets  measured at amor�sed cost by reference to the historic default experience of each debtor and the
analys is  of the debtor's  financial  pos i�on. The Group has  determined that the loss  a l lowance for expected credit losses  of
those assets  i s  £3,118k (2023: £2,151k).

I ncluded within, both current and non-current, other receivables , i s  the financial  asset of the legal  seSlement reached with
the Company's  co-founder and former C EO, Adam Minto, which was reached on 2 February 2024, for £2.9m. This  i s  to be
paid annual ly over s ix equal  instalments  between 28 March 2024 and 28 March 2029, the discounted value of the
exceptional  settlement income to the company was £2.4m at the balance sheet date, spl i t between current and non-current.

21           CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS



Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Cash at bank and in hand 8,636 11,044

 

 

22           TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 
Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Restated

Trade payables 40,256 56,233

Other taxation and social security 1,206 826

Other payables 201 51

Accruals and contract liabilities 25,586 23,620

67,249 80,730

 

23           BORROWINGS

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Bank revolving credit facility 31,785 31,721

Analysed as:

Payable within one year - 31,721

Payable after one year 31,785 -

 
The balance is  shown net of loan arrangement fees  of £215k (2023: £279k). I nterest i s  charged on the RC F based on the
Sterl ing O vernight I ndex Average plus  an appl icable margin. The RC F has  a  maturi ty date of 19 O ctober 2025, therefore is
presented within non-current l iabi l i�es. However, the Group was in breach of the covenants  in the prior period due to i ts
shares  being suspended from trading, therefore the amount was  presented within current l iabi l i ties .

O n 29 March 2023, the Group agreed an amendment to the revolving credit faci l i ty (RC F) with i ts  banking partners . The
amendment included a waiver of breaches  of the terms of the original  agreement. As  part of the amended faci l i ty agreement
which runs  through to O ctober 2024, the overal l  s ize of the faci l i ty was  agreed at £32m, reduced from £40m, and is  ful ly
drawn. Revised covenants  have been agreed, which include, a  minimum l iquidity threshold of £5.0 mi l l ion and an Adjusted
EBI TDA covenant, as  wel l  as  certain non-financial  covenants . The Adjusted EB I TDA covenant is  tested quarterly and the
minimum l iquidity threshold is  tested weekly. I nterest accrues  on the face value of the drawn down loan amount at Sterl ing
Overnight Index Average (SONIA) plus  3.5% margin and is  paid quarterly.

O n the 8 February 2024, the Group s igned a twelve-month extens ion to i ts  £32m RC F. The RC F wi l l  now run un�l  O ctober
2025 on unchanged terms.

24           DEFERRED CONSIDERATION

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Current - 10,910

Non-current 8,264 9,098

 
Revolu�on Beauty Holdings  acquired Revolu�on Beauty Labs  (Formerly Medichem Ltd) which was previous ly 100% owned
and control led by a  previous  director and shareholder of Revolu�on Beauty Group P lc, with a  deferred cons idera�on of
£20,500,000 to be paid evenly over a  4-year period, which accrues  interest at 2.5% per annum.

O n the 7th March 2023 the Group announced that i t had reached an agreement in respect of the �ming of payments  of
deferred cons idera�on for i ts  acquis i�on of Medichem Manufacturing Limited. A Deed of Varia�on dated 6 March 2023
was s igned which amends the terms of the deferred cons idera�on and comple�on net asset adjustment, adjus�ng the
timing of the payments  as  outl ined below:

•              £3.625 mi l l ion payable on 21 O ctober 2025 (being the £5.125 mi l l ion cons idera�on reduced by the £1.5 mi l l ion
loan due from one of the Sel lers  companies , Walbrook).

•              £5.125 mi l l ion payable annual ly on 21 O ctober from 2026 to 2028, interest accrues  on the outstanding balances
at a  rate of 2.5% per annum.

The change in the fa ir value of the l iabi l i ty under the agreement and the amor�sed cost of the original  deferred
considera�on resulted in a  net gain of £2,369k, which has  been recognised in the profit or loss  as  finance income at the
date of the modification.

O n 12 December 2023 the Group announced that i t had reached agreement to s ign a  second deed of varia�on in respect of
the timing and value of payments  of deferred cons ideration for i ts  acquis i tion of Medichem Manufacturing Limited.

The terms of the new amendment include the removal  of the accrued interest clause and the minimum repayment terms of
the amendment, the repayment period has  substan�al ly increased from 2028 to 2044. Management have determined that
amendment is  substan�al  based on the qual i ta�ve changes  to the agreement. Addi�onal ly, the amendment has  been
considered quan�ta�vely substan�al  based upon recalcula�ng the amor�sed cost of the modified deferred cons idera�on
by discoun�ng the modified contractual  cash flows us ing the original  effec�ve interest rate. The resul�ng movement in
amor�sed cost i s  greater than 10% of the amor�sed cost at date of amendment. The change in the fa ir value of the l iabi l i ty
under the agreement and the amor�sed cost of the original  deferred cons idera�on resulted in a  net gain of £7,874k, which
has  been recognised in the profi t or loss  as  finance income at the date of the modification.

25           DEFERRED TAX

The deferred tax balances  recognised in the consol idated statement of financial  pos ition are as  fol lows:

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Deferred tax liability/(asset)



Deferred tax liability/(asset)
Accelerated capital allowances 370 (525

Tax losses (2,369) 1,126

Intangible fixed assets 1,503 (601

Other timing differences - -

Net deferred tax liability/(asset) (496) -

 
The net movement is  explained as  fol lows:

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Opening deferred tax liability/(asset) - -

Charge/(credit) to profit or loss (484) (43

Effects of exchange rate changes (11) 43

Closing deferred tax liability/(asset) (496) -

 
Recogni�on of the deferred tax assets  i s  based upon the expected genera�on of future taxable profits . Deferred tax is
calculated at 25% as  enacted from Apri l  2023 by the UK Government.

26           PROVISIONS

Dilapidations
£'000

Legal cases
£'000

On Hold
£'000

Total
£'000

Opening Provision 100 6,163 797 7,060

Charge/(credit) to profit or loss - 296 121 417

Utilised amounts - - (618) (618)

Effects of exchange rate changes - (237) - (237)

Closing Provision 100 6,324 300 6,622
 

The di lapida�ons provis ion relates  to the es�mated costs  to be incurred by the Group in restoring the underlying assets  to
the condition required by the terms and conditions  of the Group's  lease arrangements .

The on hold provis ion relates  to charges  expected in respect of suppl ier purchase orders  which are expected to be
cancel led and for which no inventory is  expected to be received, the ful l  amount is  expected to be seSled within the next 12
months.

The legal  cases  provis ion is  where the Group has  posted or reposted socia l  media video cl ips  which contain sound
recordings  and musical  composi�ons from the music l ibrary of the relevant socia l  media plaKorm. A leSer was  received in
Autumn 2020 from two music owners , cla iming copyright infringement. LeSers  ra is ing such al lega�ons are common in
other bus iness  sectors  involved in socia l  media.

The Group has  taken formal  legal  advice from special is t US intel lectual  property aSorneys  and engaged in a  media�on
process  with the cla imants . This  process  concluded and seSled post year end and has  been treated as  an adjus�ng event
as  at the balance sheet date. As  such due to the known certainty regarding the seSlement, the Group as  at 29 February 2024
has  ful ly recognised both the legal  provis ion of the seSlement and reimbursement asset, of £6,122k, in respect of
insurances  and indemnities  receivable against the l iabi l i ty for the cla im. In the prior period, not a l l  of the indemnities  were
recognised, as  they were not vi rtual ly certain, therefore due to the ful l  recogni�on a financial  gain has  been recognised
through the profit and loss  for this  ful l  recogni�on within this  financial  year. Further detai l  rela�ng to the indemni�es  are
not provided on the grounds that such disclosure would be cons idered serious ly prejudicia l .

28           Contingent Liabilities

As previous ly announced, the Group received no�ce from Chrysal is  I nvestment Limited ("Chrysal is") on 22 November 2023,
sta�ng that Chrysal is  bel ieved i t had certain poten�al  cla ims against the Group in rela�on to i ts  purchase of Revolu�on
Beauty P lc shares  in July 2021 and the sale of those shares  in late 2022. Chrysal is  had not commenced formal  legal
proceedings  at this  point.

O n 19 Apri l  2024, the Group received a further leSer from Chrysal is 's  legal  advisers , including draV par�culars  of
Chrysal is 's  a l leged cla ims and detai ls  of the quantum of Chrysal is ' thereof. These were stated as  a  cla im of £39m, together
with a  cla im for consequen�al  losses  of a  further £6.2m. Further to this  addi�onal  leSer, no cla im had yet been filed with
the court.

The Company strongly contests  the Chrysal is  a l lega�ons and bel ieves  that the cla im is  fundamental ly flawed in a  number
of respects . Nonetheless , the Company wi l l  con�nue to engage with Chrysal is  and i ts  advisers , as  i t i s  required to do under
the UK's  civi l  procedure rules , with a  view to reaching a  resolution of this  matter.

The Group announced on 21 July 2023 that the F inancial  Conduct Authori ty ("FC A") had commenced an inves�ga�on into
poten�al  breaches  of the Market Abuse Regula�on (EU) 596/2014 (as  i t forms part of UK  domes�c law by vi rtue of the
European Union (W ithdrawal) Act 2018) in rela�on to certain maSers  in the period from July 2021 to September 2022.  The
Group is  coopera�ng ful ly with the FC A. Un�l  such �me as  more informa�on is  avai lable on the outcome of the
investigation, no assessment can be made of any potentia l  l iabi l i ties  that may arise from i t.

 

29           SHARE CAPITAL

Year ended
29 February

2024
No. ('000)

Year ended
28 February

2023
No. ('000

Class of share
 

318,529
 

309,737Authorised and fully paid ordinary shares of 1p each

318,529 309,737

 

£'000 £'000

Class of share

Authorised and fully paid ordinary shares of 1p each 3,185 3,097

3,185 3,097

 
During the year, a  total  of 8,791,984 ordinary shares  were issued under the share incentive plans, as  per note 29.



Ordinary share rights
O rdinary shares  carry ful l  vo�ng rights  and rights  in respect of dividends and capital  distribu�ons (including on winding
up).

30           NET DEBT

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below detai ls  changes  in the Group's  l iabi l i�es  aris ing from financing ac�vi�es, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabi l i�es  aris ing from financing ac�vi�es  are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows wi l l  be,
class i fied in the Group's  consol idated cash flow statement as  cash flows from financing activi ties .

As at 1 March
2023

£'000

 
Cash flows

£'000

Non-cash
movements

£'000

As at 29 February
2024
£'000

Cash and cash equivalents 11,044 (2,085) (323) 8,636

Borrowings (31,721) - (64) (31,785)

Lease liabilities (3,014) 2,118 (2,376) (3,272)

Net debt (23,691) 33 (2,763) (26,421)
 

As at 1 March
2022

£'000

 
Cash flows

£'000

Non-cash
movements

£'000

As at 28 February
2023

£'000

Cash and cash equivalents 15,619 (3,876) (699) 11,044

Borrowings (23,551) (8,000) (170) (31,721)

Lease liabilities (4,647) 2,127 (494) (3,014)

Net debt (12,579) (9,749) (1,363) (23,691)

 

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Amortised Cost (31,785) (31,721

Prepaid financing fees (215) (279

Gross borrowings (32,000) (32,000

 
31           RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Interests  in subs idiaries  are set out in note 4 to the Company financial  s tatements .

Transactions with related parties

Transac�ons between the Group and i ts  subs idiaries , which are related par�es, have been el iminated on consol ida�on
and are not disclosed in this  note.

The Group entered into the fol lowing transactions  with companies  under the control  of one of the Directors :

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Other related parties
Sales 7 3

Rent paid 237 236

 
The fol lowing amounts  were outstanding at the reporting date:

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Other related parties

Amounts due to related parties - 1

Amounts due from related parties 1 -

 
I ncluded within deferred cons idera�on in the prior period was a  loan to Walbrook I nvestments  Limited, a  company under
the control  of T Al lsworth, of £1,500k which in the 7thMarch 2023 amendment was offset against the Groups ' l iabi l i ty to T
Al lsworth in respect of the acquis i tion.

Medichem P roper�es  Limited (Formerly Walbrook I nvestments  Limited), i s  a  company under the control  of one of the
former directors . During the period the company provided rental  premises  to the group for cash payments  of £237k (2023:
£235k). As  at the period end there is  a  rent l iabi l i ty of £167k (2023: £370k) outstanding.

During the financial  year, the Group paid salaries  of £143k to the co-founders  and former Directors  of the Group in
addi�on to a lso paying £509k through salary to one of the co-founders  for their legal  advice and personal  tax benefit
associated with the independent investigation commiss ioned by the Company.

Addi�onal ly, the Group employs  a  number of individuals  which are cons idered close fami ly members  of the former
Directors , and paid salaries  of £224k (2023: £472k).

The Group entered into the fol lowing transac�ons with boohoo Group P lc, an en�ty cons idered to have s ignificant
influence over the group.

Year ended
29 February

2024
£'000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£'000

Other related parties
Sales 994 987

Purchases 31 57

 

The receivable amount outstanding at the balance sheet date was £129k (2023: £223k).



The receivable amount outstanding at the balance sheet date was £129k (2023: £223k).

During the year the Group entered into a  rental  agreement for office space with Boohoo that commences  on 1 March 2024,
as  the terms have been commiSed to the Group has  recognised the corresponding lease asset and lease l iabi l i ty of £2.4m
at the balance sheet date.

For the purposes  of I AS 24 "Related Party Disclosure", the Group cons ider key management personnel  to be the Directors  of
Revolu�on Beauty Group plc, execu�ves  below the level  of the Company's  Board are not regarded as  key management
personnel . Remuneration for the board of directors  i s  set out in note 8.

DIRECTORS' TRANSACTIONS

During the prior year, Revolu�on Beauty Holdings  exercised i ts  op�on to whol ly acquire Revolu�on Beauty Labs  (Formerly
Medichem Ltd), from a director who had a control l ing interest, for an ini tia l  cons ideration of

£7,000,000, with a  deferred cons idera�on of £16,000,000 to be paid evenly over a  4-year period. An agreement was
reached with the director to amend the terms of the deferred cons idera�on, detai ls  of the amendment and outstanding
l iabi l i ty are set out in note 24.

31           ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS AND ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2024 Annual  Report and Accounts  and No�ce of the General  Mee�ng wi l l  be posted to shareholders  and publ ished on
the Group's  website at www.revolutionbeautyplc.com in June. The Annual  General  Meeting is  to be held on 31 July 2024.
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